
 

 
 

Place and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
 
Date: Tuesday, 4 July 2023 
Time: 10.00 am 
Venue: Council Chamber, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ 
 

Members (Quorum: 3)  
Shane Bartlett (Chairman), Andy Canning (Vice-Chairman), Rod Adkins, Jon Andrews, 
Piers Brown, Barry Goringe, Brian Heatley, David Shortell, David Tooke and Bill Trite 
 
Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ  
 
For more information about this agenda please contact Democratic Services  
Meeting Contact  01305 252209 / lindsey.watson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting, apart from any items listed in 
the exempt part of this agenda. 
 
For easy access to all the council’s committee agendas and minutes download the free 
public app called Modern.Gov for use on any iPad, Android, and Windows tablet.  Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council. 
 
 
 

Agenda 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   APOLOGIES 

 
 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

 

2.   MINUTES 
 

5 - 16 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 25 May 2023. 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To disclose any pecuniary, other registrable or non-registrable interests 
as set out in the adopted Code of Conduct. In making their disclosure 
councillors are asked to state the agenda item, the nature of the 
interest and any action they propose to take as part of their declaration. 

 
If required, further advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer 
in advance of the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 
4.   CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 

 
 

 To receive any updates from the Chairman of the Place and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 

 

5.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

 

 Representatives of town or parish councils and members of the public 
who live, work, or represent an organisation within the Dorset Council 
area are welcome to submit either 1 question or 1 statement for each 
meeting.  You are welcome to attend the meeting in person or via MS 
Teams to read out your question and to receive the response.   If you 
submit a statement for the committee this will be circulated to all 
members of the committee in advance of the meeting as a supplement 
to the agenda and appended to the minutes for the formal record but 
will not be read out at the meeting. The first 8 questions and the first 
8 statements received from members of the public or 
organisations for each meeting will be accepted on a first come 
first served basis in accordance with the deadline set out below.  
Further information read Public Participation - Dorset Council  
 
All submissions must be emailed in full to 
lindsey.watson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk  by 8.30am on 29 June 2023. 
 
When submitting your question or statement please note that:  
 
• You can submit 1 question or 1 statement. 
• a question may include a short pre-amble to set the context.  
• It must be a single question and any sub-divided questions will 

not be permitted. 
• Each question will consist of no more than 450 words, and you 

will be given up to 3 minutes to present your question.  
• when submitting a question please indicate who the question is 

for (e.g., the name of the committee or Portfolio Holder)  
• Include your name, address, and contact details.  Only your 

name will be published but we may need your other details to 
contact you about your question or statement in advance of the 
meeting.  

• questions and statements received in line with the council’s 
rules for public participation will be published as a supplement to 
the agenda.  

• all questions, statements and responses will be published in full 
within the minutes of the meeting. 

 

 

6.   QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS 
 

 

 To receive questions submitted by councillors.   
  
Councillors can submit up to two valid questions at each meeting and 
sub divided questions count towards this total.   Questions and 
statements received will be published as a supplement to the agenda 

 

mailto:lindsey.watson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


 

and all questions, statements and responses will be published in full 
within the minutes of the meeting.  
  
The submissions must be emailed in full to 
lindsey.watson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by 8.30am on 29 June 2023. 
  
Dorset Council Constitution – Procedure Rule 13 
 

7.   NATURAL ENVIRONMENT, CLIMATE AND ECOLOGY: PHASE 1 
(2021-23) PROGRESS REPORT - SUMMER 2023 
 

17 - 62 

 To consider a report of the Climate and Ecology Policy Officer. 
 

 

8.   PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY 
 

 

 A review of the relevant Dorset Council performance dashboard to 
inform the scrutiny committee’s work programme and identify items for 
deep dives. 
 
The following link is the dashboard for the committee: 
 
Place and Resources Scrutiny Committee dashboard 
 
Committee members to flag up if any areas for potential review. 

 
Operational – Corporate: Councillors Piers Brown, Barry Goringe and 
David Shortell 

 
Operational – Place: Councillors David Tooke and Jon Andrews 

 
HR: Councillors Rod Adkins, Andy Canning, Brian Heatley and Bill 
Trite 

 
The Chairman, Councillor Shane Bartlett, maintains an overview of all 
the above areas. 
 

 

9.   PLACE AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK 
PROGRAMME 
 

63 - 68 

 To review the Place and Resources Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme. 
 

 

10.   CABINET FORWARD PLAN AND DECISIONS 
 

69 - 82 

 To review the Cabinet Forward Plan and decisions taken at recent 
meetings. 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan and decisions of recent meetings are 
provided to members of the Place & Resources Scrutiny Committee to 
review and identify any potential post decision scrutiny to be 
undertaken, by scheduling items into the work programme to review 
after a period of implementation. 

 

mailto:lindsey.watson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=433&Year=0&info=1&MD=constitution
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiNjg5YmJiYTItZWQyMy00NmQzLTlmMTEtYTdjY2VjNDRlM2EyIiwidCI6IjBhNGVkZjM1LWYwZDItNGUyMy05OGY2LWIwOTAwYjRlYTFlNiIsImMiOjh9


 

 
11.   URGENT ITEMS 

 
 

 To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall be 
recorded in the minutes. 
 

 

12.   EXEMPT BUSINESS 
 

 

 To move the exclusion of the press and the public for the following item 
in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the 
meaning of paragraph x of schedule 12 A to the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended). 
 
The public and the press will be asked to leave the meeting whilst the 
item of business is considered. 
 
There is no scheduled exempt business. 
 

 

 
 



 
 

PLACE AND RESOURCES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY 25 MAY 2023 
 

Present: Cllrs Shane Bartlett (Chairman), Andy Canning (Vice-Chairman), 
Jon Andrews, Piers Brown, David Shortell, David Tooke and Bill Trite 
 
Apologies: Cllrs Rod Adkins, Barry Goringe and Brian Heatley 
 
Also present: Cllr Ray Bryan, Cllr Simon Gibson and Cllr Nocturin Lacey-Clarke 
 
Also present remotely: Cllr Laura Beddow 

 
Officers present (for all or part of the meeting): 
John Sellgren (Executive Director, Place), Jonathan Mair (Director of Legal and 
Democratic and Monitoring Officer), Jack Wiltshire (Head of Highways), Owen Clark 
(Transport Planner), Helen Jackson (Principal Transport Planner), Lindsey Watson 
(Senior Democratic Services Officer) and John Miles (Democratic Services Officer 
Apprentice) 
 
 

 
WELCOME FROM THE CHAIRMAN 
 
The Chairman welcomed B Heatley who had been reappointed to the committee.  
The Chairman also thanked M Roberts as an outgoing committee member, for his 
work and contribution on the committee. 
 

84.   Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 30 March 2023 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

85.   Declarations of interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

86.   Chairman's Update 
 
Updates were provided on the following areas and are attached to the minutes at 
Appendix 1: 
 

 Update on Freedom of Information and Subject Access Requests – 
provided by the Service Manager for Assurance. 
 

 20mph Policy – 6 month progress update – provided by the Road Safety 
Manager. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



2 

 
In respect of the update relating to Freedom of Information and Subject Access 
Requests, the Chairman asked Councillors Brown, Goringe and Heatley to monitor 
performance in these areas and report back to the committee if required. 
 

87.   Public Participation 
 
Questions and statements had been submitted from members of the public.  A 
copy of the questions and statements submitted and the responses to questions 
provided, are set out at Appendix 2. 
 

88.   Questions from Councillors 
 
There were no questions from councillors. 
 

89.   Review of the Third Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset Local Transport Plan 
(2011-2026) 
 
At the request of the committee, a report of the Principal Transport Planner was 
received to provide a review of the adopted Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset Local 
Transport Plan (LTP3).  The report provided statistical evidence for the 
performance indicators in the LTP covering the period from 2017 and highlighted 
the main transport interventions that had been implemented and provided a 
financial overview.  The committee was invited to review the achievements of 
LTP3 and provide comments which would be considered during planning for LTP4. 
 
Councillors provided comments on LTP3 in the following areas: 
 

 Funding issues were considered and a request made for comparisons to be 
made with other local authorities in the south west region.  Information 
provided in the report would also be checked 

 A request was made to the Portfolio for Highways, Travel and Environment 
to ask Government to provide incremental funding year on year in order to 
improve the amount of funding received overall by Dorset Council 

 Links between highways and planning - constraints on spatial and strategic 
planning and connecting the road infrastructure.  A comment was made that 
it was cost prohibitive to the Council and developer contributions and that 
there was a need for Government funding in order to achieve the housing 
numbers demanded by Government.  There also needed to be 
consideration of connectivity between dormitory villages and towns and the 
locations for development 

 Road safety issues were noted and a point raised as to how improvements 
with new technology in car safety were being taken into consideration in 
planning for the future LTP and potential highways improvements.  The 
Council was engaging with the Department for Transport on these issues.  
Lessons could be learnt from LTP3 moving forwards 

 Use of data on incidents on roads and a request that the Police be asked to 
share additional information on near misses and non-injury data with the 
Council so that officers could undertake analysis and gain learning in 
respect of how the road system was designed and signed 

Page 6



3 

 An additional request for the Police to be asked to provide information to 
the Council to allow analysis to be undertaken by officers to compare levels 
of visitor versus residents’ incidents 

 Information to be provided in the report to the Place and Resources 
Overview Committee in July with regard to the link between increased 
numbers of 20mph zones, how this could affect levels of carbon emissions 
and the impact on LTP4 

 Bus services - points noted around difficulties with getting accurate bus use 
figures, the implications of the £2 bus fare cap and levels of satisfaction 
being lower in Dorset, were recognised as challenges, particularly in rural 
parts of Dorset 

 The implications for LTP4 of lost funding from the European Union needed 
to be understood and information to be provided as part of the process for 
planning for LTP4 

 A request to investigate opportunities for facilitating the night-time 
movement of exceptional convoys as part of planning for LTP4 

 A point was noted as to whether former rail networks could be utilised to 
improve rail connectivity as part of LTP4. 

 
The above points would be taken into consideration by officers and the Portfolio 
Holder during planning for LTP4 and information provided as relevant to the Place 
and Resources Overview Committee for the meeting on 27 July 2023. 
 
Other points were raised as follows: 
 

 There was a need to consider the level of highways related information 
provided with planning applications.  The Portfolio Holder for Highways, 
Travel and Environment noted that he would provide an update to the 
committee at an appropriate time. 

 There were links to the Grid Capacity review to be undertaken by the 
committee. 

 
90.   Place and Resources Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 

 
Councillors reviewed the committee’s work programme and noted items to be 
considered at forthcoming meetings. 
 
In respect of the performance dashboard, a point was noted on the frequency of 
reporting on the 5-year land supply and delivery test and that this area required 
increased focus.  The importance of keeping the information in the dashboard up 
to date was noted. 
 
The committee considered a draft summary scope for a review of Grid Capacity 
and it was noted that a task and finish group was to be established in order to 
undertake the review with a report to be brought back to a future meeting of the 
committee. 
 

91.   Cabinet Forward Plan and Decisions 
 

Page 7



4 

The committee noted the Cabinet Forward Plan and decisions taken at recent 
meetings, which the committee could use to identify potential areas for post 
decision review. 
 

92.   Urgent items 
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

93.   Exempt Business 
 
There was no exempt business. 
 
APPENDIX 1 - CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 
 

Agenda item 4 – Chairman’s Update 
 
Update on FOI and Subject Access Requests – provided by the Service 
Manager for Assurance 
 
The Committee discussed the current performance of the Council’s Freedom of 
Information (FOI) and Subject Access Requests (SARs) at the meeting on 30th 
March.  A number of the indicators are consistently showing as “red” and the 
committee requested further information on the action being taken to improve 
performance.  A full update accompanies the agenda papers. 
 
During 2022/23, whole Council performance for Freedom of Information Requests 
responded to within timescales was recorded as Amber for 10 of the 12 months 
(three of which were very close to the 90% target), with December 23 and 
February 23 showing as Red (but still above 75% compliance).  The two KPIs 
relating to numbers of overdue requests and average number of days requests are 
overdue are showing as red by default.  The tolerance levels aligned to these two 
KPIs are currently being reviewed, to show a more realistic picture.  The 
Information Compliance Team continue to provide regular management 
information to Directorates to improve their compliance rates. 
 
Historically Dorset Council, and previously Dorset County Council, has struggled 
to comply with Subject Access Request timescales.  The number of SARs 
received has increased by approximately 24% every year.  Whilst still falling 
generally below the 90% target, significant improvements have been made within 
the last twelve months.  Childrens Services established a dedicated SARs team, 
and these transferred to Assurance in January 2022 to provide better alignment 
with other information compliance skillsets.  As a result of this dedicated resource, 
and a review of processes and practices, the backlog of cases have now been 
largely processed.  SARs vary in complexity – it is a small number of very complex 
care leaver requests that largely drive the Red reporting.  With the significant 
backlog now removed, it is envisaged that the performance will improve, but 
realistically responding to the most complex cases within timescales will remain a 
challenge.  Cases above team capacity and/or deemed very complex are 
generally outsourced to an external provider, which has improved performance.  A 
redaction software project is underway to look to improve team efficiency further. 
 

Page 8



5 

 
20mph Policy – 6-month progress update – provided by the Road Safety 
Manager 
 
The new 20mph policy was agreed by Cabinet on the 1 November 22 and shortly 
afterwards a dedicated website 20mph Limits and Zones - Dorset Council was 
made available providing guidance to the community and an easy to use online 
application form.  
 
The policy was communicated through the regular channels New 20mph 
application launched for towns and parishes - Dorset Council news and the Road 
Safety Manager further promoted this work by engaging with DAPTC through a 
webinar which at that time was the highest attended with 62 delegates.  
 
To date there have been 12 community applications with a further 32 areas that 
have expressed an interest or are actively working on an application.  
 
The Road Safety Manager and Local Community Highway Teams have been 
actively engaging with several Ward Members and Parish/Town Councils to 
provide guidance. 
 
On the 27 April 23 a newly formed 20mph Panel Group comprising the Portfolio 
Holder for Highways, Transport Planning Team Leader, Transport Planning 
Implementation Manager and Road Safety Manager met to consider 8 applications 
which formed part of the first phase. Phase 1 applications are those submitted 
before the 1 March 23.  
 
The Panel agreed that 5 applications met criteria, 1 didn’t meet criteria, 1 required 
further investigative work and 1 Parish Council paused their application to consider 
an alternative application for a Speed Indicator Device within the existing 30mph.  
 
The next Panel Group meeting will consider applications made between 1 March 
23 and 31 August 2023 and this will be known as Phase 2. 
 
An assessment is now underway to fully understand the cost implications for these 
5 applications before a decision is made on the funding arrangements and the 
applications are progressed towards the formal Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) 
public consultation process.   
 
The relevant Local Members and Parish/Town Councils have all been updated 
with the result of the Panel meeting.  
 
In addition to the community requests the Highways Development Team will be 
advising developers that Dorset Council require them to implement 20mph within 
new residential streets and wherever possible they are to avoid unnecessary 
street clutter. 
  
Dorset Police have made clear that they will enforce 20mph speed limits and these 
measures are regularly discussed within the Dorset Road Safety Partnership. 
 

Page 9

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/roads-highways-maintenance/traffic-management/20mph-limits-and-zones
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/11/10/new-20mph-application-launched-for-towns-and-parishes/
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/11/10/new-20mph-application-launched-for-towns-and-parishes/


6 

A more formal 12 months review will be undertaken later in the year and report 
prepared for Scrutiny Committee. 
 
 
APPENDIX 2 - PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

Agenda item 5 – Public Participation 
 
Questions received 
 
1. Question from Peter Mole – Fontmell Magna Community Speed Watch 
Coordinator 
 
Recently when describing the numerous A roads with 20 mph speed limits the 
20sPlenty southern organiser said something like:- 
“If ANY  A road in the UK is made for a 20mph limit it is the A350 in Fontmell 
Magna”. 
Lacking pavements, we have a serious problem which is being observed and 
acknowledged far afield. 
 
Many of us who live here regret that the failure to responsibly control road safety is 
making the village notorious to an increasingly large audience while traffic 
offending gets worse and quality of life is blighted to an extent which would not be 
acceptable in other counties. Our roads are not fit for purpose. 
 
Whether on foot, bicycle or horse and whatever your age or capacity we have a 
choice to make when using footpaths which we share with all kinds of road traffic. 
As unpleasant incidents and high speeds increase those who expect a normal 
quality of life are being deterred and let down. 
 
When cheap, simple and popular measures with many benefits and minimal 
disadvantages which protect the most vulnerable have been so widely introduced 
across Europe and elsewhere why do Dorset Councillors feel it is acceptable to 
routinely expose Fontmell Magna residents to such dangerous footways? 
 
 
2. Question from Andrew Davis 
 
The A350 through Fontmell Magna is arguably the most dangerous A road for 
pedestrians and other venerable road users in Dorset.  And yet Dorset Highways 
have refused our application for a 20-mph speed limit on dubious grounds.  An 
example of the duplicity of how the current speed policy is being applied is the 
rejection of 20-mph because  “where the movement of motor vehicles is the 
primary function” and yet the same DfT guidelines used by Dorset Highways 
says in section 84 states that “ …traffic authorities are able to use their powers 
to introduce 20-mph speed limits …where a significant number of journeys 
on foot,… “  
Our village is spilt in two by the A350 and some 47 % residents surveyed say they 
use a car for local journeys instead of walking simply due the fear of the A350. 
 

Page 10



7 

We are finding significant support and shared frustration from at least 12 other 
Town and Parish Councils that view the current Dorset speed policy not fit for 
purpose. The political issues that arise from this frustration will probably be best 
answered in May 2024. 
Is the Councillor aware that according to the Department of Transport press office 
reports, the out-of-date 2013 Guidelines, that Dorset Highways seem weeded to, 
is currently being updated to make it easier for Councils to apply a 20-mph speed 

limit where risk and demand from local residents justify a safer speed? 

 
 
3. Question from Alice Mole 
 
When my house was built it fronted onto a centuries old track. Today when I leave 
my gate for church or post-box I must step onto the carriageway of the A350 
where fast vehicle drivers have visibility of about 10 yards. Many people of my age 
are frightened of walking along or across the road due to the exceptional level of 
risk. Increasing numbers, including those with children,  are reporting being 
clipped by wing mirrors of passing cars and near misses. 
I believe that when the Archbishop of Canterbury was recently fined for speeding 
in a 20 mph zone it was for 25mph on a straight and level, busy A road with 
excellent visibility and wide pavements on both sides. Here we have no 
pavements on a narrow road with sharp, blind bends which people who live here 
have used as a footpath since time immemorial. Now we use it with considerable 
anxiety, resort to using the car or stay at home. 
Speeding vehicles have been allowed to push us aside like a magpie laying 
unwelcome eggs in the nest of an unwitting host. 
The transition from footpath to shared use has not been responsibly handled by 
Dorset Council and the new policy as it is being applied continues the negligence. 
We have asked Councillors for the sort of simple controls which have been 
adopted widely elsewhere for many years and these are now being refused 
despite the evidence. 
In Lambeth pedestrians using A roads do so in safety why do Dorset Councillors 
feel those of us who have to walk on the A350 in Fontmell Magna should do so in 
such needless danger? 
 
 
4. Question from David Frankl 
 
Many studies have shown that driving at 20mph produces less pollution than when 
driving at 30mph and also reduces the number and severity of accidents. The 
Dorset Council policy on 20mph speed limits thwarts attempts by residents and 
Town and Parish Councils by imposing criteria that are not included in any DfT 
guidance, such as a requirement to have a Community Speedwatch in place. 
 
Why does Dorset Council not actively promote 20mph as a default driving speed in 
areas where people and vehicular traffic mix? 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



8 

5. Question from Fontmell Magna Parish Council 
 
We were dismayed and shocked to have our application turned down. Dorset 
Councillors are not honouring the obligation to create a safe road environment 
which is fit for purpose and to FULLY take into account the composition of road 
users including quality of life and the needs of vulnerable road users. 
 
With overwhelming support for our application from those who live here and no 
identified third-party objecting to our wishes this is a curious day for democracy in 
local government. 
 
The rejection letter received loosely mentions reasons which we do not believe 
stand up to informed scrutiny or justify the continuation of dangerously high traffic 
speeds on roads without pavements where we would expect to safely walk or ride. 
Sadly, over time, our roads have not been adequately engineered or otherwise 
controlled to maintain normally accepted levels of safety. 
 
Recently the National Organiser of the 20sPlenty group said words to the effect 
that, with more than 100 local authorities in the UK, “no local authority throws up 
more barriers to safe speeds than Dorset.” The Dorset policy as applied appears 
to maintain our position as the slowest ship in the convoy when it comes to 
bringing our road regulation into line with modern standards.  
 
An explanation for unsuccessful applicants has been promised and we look 
forward to arranging that part of the new process. We have alarming and 
deteriorating road safety information which has been shared with Dorset Highways 
and Councillors. Levels of speed offending have become many times higher than 
the average for the county, on roads with unsuitably high-speed limits in place, 
and which are notoriously not fit for purpose. Our unique situation of not having 
pavements can be made safer with cheap and effective traffic speed controls 
similar to those which have been widely introduced across most of the Western 
world in recent years.  
 
Why do Dorset Councillors feel that, in ignoring our wishes, it is reasonable for too 
many residents of Fontmell Magna to be frightened to cross the road to visit their 
neighbours, walk their dogs or do normal everyday activities on footways in the 
village? 
 
 
Response to questions 1 to 5 
 
The Chairmans update highlights the actions taken by Dorset Council to deliver on 
the new policy which will result in an increased number of 20mph schemes.  
 
The new policy does not seek to set a 20mph limit as the default for all roads 
where people and vehicular traffic mix, but has taken a consistent approach to 
dealing with applications, with a policy that complies with national guidance, is 
deliverable within designated budgets and is enforceable by the Police. The 
national guidance underpinning this policy is indeed 10 years old. The Department 
for Transport have not consulted with Dorset Council on any potential changes to 
this guidance. Until we receive new guidance, it is important that we adhere to 

Page 12



9 

current national guidance. The current policy seeks to make 20 mph the norm for 
new residential developments and is clear that 20 mph limits will be considered for 
urban areas and village streets that are primarily residential. 
 
On the 28th of April, Fontmell Magna Parish Council were advised that the 20mph 
Panel Group had assessed their application and that it did not meet the criteria set 
out in the policy. However, I recognise that road safety remains a concern for this 
local community and our Community Highways Officers and Road Safety team 
continue to work with the Parish Council to see how safety can be improved. The 
safety concern relating to the lack of footway on the bend in the village is a 
complex matter to consider, with improvement options being limited due to the 
significant constraints on this part of the A350. Ensuring that the village has the 
appropriate level of safety signage when balanced against the need to keep signs, 
lines and street furniture to a minimum has been a key consideration. Dorset 
Council supported the Parish Council’s request for a Speed Indicator Device (SID) 
at three locations in the village, which is a new intervention for the village. Within 
the last few weeks, the SID has become operational and this will help to promote 
the reduction in speeds and increase the feeling of safety, which will be 
supplemented by the fantastic work of the Community Speed Watch (CSW) team.   
 
Dorset Council is a member of the Dorset Road Safety Partnership and we are 
working with partnership colleagues including Dorset Police who operate the CSW 
scheme and speed camera enforcement measures. The Partnership has an 
ambition to increase the overall level of CSW capability across the Dorset Council 
area and that is why the 20mph policy strongly encourages communities to try and 
establish a CSW team as part of their application process. However, it is important 
to recognise that an inability to establish a local CSW will not lead to a 20mph 
application being blocked.    
 
Recent concerns have been raised regarding the perception of increased 
speeding at the Spring Meadows junction as a result of changes to the road layout 
linked to this new housing development. As a result a speed survey is being 
commissioned to understand whether there has been an actual increase. This will 
coincide with the developer undertaking a Road Safety Audit with any remedial 
work being identified and addressed. 
 
 
6. Question from Dilys Gartside – 20’s Plenty for Dorset Campaign 
Coordinator 
 
May I know the number of schemes which have been approved for implementation 
by DC under its current policy and how many of them include an A or B road. 
 
Response 
 

Location 

B3069 - Langton Matravers 

C8/C136 - Winfrith Newburgh 

B3082 - Wimborne Town Centre - extension to current 20mph 

B3162 / B3157 - Bridport Town Centre – links into existing 
20mph 

Page 13



10 

C47 - Pimperne - does not include A354 

 
Out of the five applications that will progress to the next stage there were none (0) 
that were on an A classification road, three (3) were on a B classification road and 
two (2) that were on a C classification road.  
 
 
Statements received 
 
1. Statement from Robert McCurrach 
 
My wife and I live in Fontmell Magna, and every day we cross the A350 (Lurmer 
Street) from Mill Street into Crown Hill, to access the village. 
The amount of traffic, small large and very large, has increased over the years, as 
has the speed at which vehicles come round the bend in either direction.   The 
distance from the crossroad to the corner, in both directions, is such that there is 
very limited time to see vehicles approaching.  When these vehicles are coming 
fast, that time is even more limited.   As we both have hearing aids, we cannot rely 
on the sound of approaching traffic, nor can we run across the road. 
 
On other occasions we visit neighbours who live along Lurmer Street, and to reach 
them on foot we have to walk along sections of the road where there is no 
pavement, and virtually no space between a wall on one side and a hedge on the 
other, so we, like other pedestrians, have no option but to walk on the 
carriageway. 
 
We appreciate that rerouting the A350 represents a very major step, but there is a 
short term solution – a 20 MPH speed limit on the A350 through Fontmell Magna. 
  This solution has been used effectively  in other locations. 
 
We should like the Committee to take the necessary steps to impose a 20 MPH 
speed limit on the A350 through Fontmell Magna – before somebody dies. 
 
 
2. Statement from Michael Hobbs 
 
I was very surprised to hear that Fontmell Magna’s application for 20 mph speed 
limit on the A350 had  been turned down. As a resident of 21 years, who has to 
cross the A350 on a regular basis I am only too aware of the increased dangers, 
so now I am having to increasingly use my car. The speed at which much of the 
traffic passes through the village has dramatically increased in the last year as has 
the number of near misses. 
Observing other rural areas where 20 mph limits have been introduced , traffic 
does respect the reduced speed limits to the benefit of their residents. 
You will be aware from the information the village have supplied you with that the 
recorded speeds in the village are increasing at an alarming rate. With an 
increased village population the chance of a nasty accident involving an injury to a 
resident has also increased. As a responsible village we are doing everything in 
our power to prevent this happening. However Dorset Council seem to able to 
dismiss this as being unimportant. How are Dorset Council going to dramatically 
improve the safety on the A350 through our village ? 

Page 14



11 

 
 
3. Statement from M & F Turnball 
 
As new residents of Spring Meadows estate we are appalled and outraged by the 
attitude of Dorset Highways in regard to road safety and excessive speeding of 
vehicles and motorcycles along the A350, especially along the new junction 
created for Spring Meadows.  The feedback from them appears to be to allow 
accidents to happen before taking remedial action. 
 
The speed limit through Sutton Waldron is 30mph and then on the very straight 
road towards Fontmell Magna changes to 40mph, a very short distance and then 
reverts to 30mph, why can the 40mph not be changed to 30mph all the way along 
this piece of road?  
The new junction has increased the hazard along the A350 as with the widening of 
the road is allowing speeding vehicles and motorcycles to overtake which is 
dangerous. There has been no provision for cyclists along this road and no 
pavements for walkers who choose to walk along the road to the village and not 
through Spring Meadows. The junction will shortly be used by parents taking their 
children to school as a school drop off car park has been created in Spring 
Meadows and this will make this junction even more dangerous. Due to drivers 
overtaking and the creation of the junction solid white lines are needed to help 
prevent this, in addition a permanent speed camera needs to be installed and 
would help the problem of speeding through the village itself also which has 
recently had the 20mph limit refused. We understand the Developers 
Pennyfarthing will be paying the Dorset Highways over £350,000 so why can’t this 
money go towards paying for these much-needed safety issues? We feel no 
consideration has been taken by Highways with regards to the new junction and 
prevention is better than cure, so action needs to be taken now.  There have 
already been several incidents and near misses since January which have been 
logged and reported to the Police and Parish Council / Speed Watch and yet still 
no action has been taken or acknowledged.  Whenever the SID is removed which 
is frequent, there is an instant increase in the speed of vehicles which proves that 
a fixed speed camera could and would be the solution.  The Highways response 
we had was that more surveys were to be carried out and signage on the road, 
how many more surveys are needed?  We need action not signs and surveys. 
 
 

Duration of meeting: 10.00  - 11.53 am 
 
 
Chairman 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Place and Resources Scrutiny Committee  

4 July 2023  

Natural Environment, Climate and Ecology: 

Phase 1 (2021-23) Progress Report – Summer 

2023 

For Review and Consultation  

 
Portfolio Holder:  Cllr R Bryan, Highways, Travel and Environment  
 
Local Councillor(s): County Wide  

Executive Director: A Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development  
     
Report Author: Carl Warom 
Title: Climate & Ecology Policy Officer 
Tel: 01305 225853 
Email: carl.warom@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Report Status:  Public 

 
1. Brief Summary: 

1.1 The Dorset Council Climate & Ecological Emergency Strategy and action 

plan were adopted by Full Council on 15 July 2021. At this time, it was 

agreed that Dorset Council would commit to producing two public facing 

reports per year giving an overview of progress against the strategy and 

action plan, to be presented to this committee.  

1.2 The first report (Autumn 2021) provided a quantitative outline of progress, 

on annual carbon emissions reductions. The second report (Spring 2022) 

provided qualitative narrative on delivery against strategy actions, and the 

third (Autumn 2022) again updated on the quantitative emissions 

trajectory.1 

1.3 ‘Protecting our natural environment, climate and ecology’ has since been 

included as one of the top priorities embedded within the Council Plan and 

                                                           
1 https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/progress-so-far 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



Delivery Plan. In March this year we refreshed our strategy and action 

plan for Phase 2 of our programme.2 

1.4 This report aims to take stock of what was achieved in the first phase for 

the original 2021-23 action plan, by providing a qualitative narrative on 

major action to date in key areas. It is important to emphasise that the 

strategy and action plan are long-term programmes that will evolve over 

time. 

Recommendation: 
To review progress made in delivering the original climate and ecology action 
plan during the first phase of our programme. 
 
Reason for Recommendation:      
 
In line with the recommendation of the Scrutiny Committee on 12 May 2021 that 
the Committee would provide oversight against progress and delivery of the 
strategy and action plan via six monthly progress reports. The Committee’s views 
will be used to inform the shape of the next phase of the programme for delivery 
of the refreshed 2023 strategy and action plan. 
 
2. Background  

2.1 Dorset Council adopted its strategy and action plan in 2021 following 

consultation and agreed to monitor performance biannually. Three 

progress reports were published in 2021-2022. 

2.2 The appended report gives the latest overview of progress, providing a 

narrative on key achievements to date during the first phase of the 

programme as we commence implementation of our refreshed Phase 2 

strategy and action plan.  

2.3 This report aims to take stock of what was achieved in the first phase for 

the original 2021-23 action plan by providing a qualitative narrative on 

major action to date in key areas. It is important to emphasise that this is a 

long-term programme that will evolve over time and many actions though 

progressing well may take time to reach completion. 

2.4 This report provides a qualitative narrative of progress against actions but 

does not provide a quantitative description of our emissions and our 

consequent progress against our emissions trajectory. The latter is the 

subject of our Autumn/Winter progress reporting. 

                                                           
2 https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/our-plan 

Page 18

https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/


3. Summary of progress spring 2022 

3.1 Our original strategy set our long and short-term carbon targets, set 41 

objectives under 9 topic headings, and detailed around 190 actions. 

3.2 Two years since its adoption, considerable work has been undertaken and 

excellent progress has been made, as summarised in the appended 

report.  

3.3 In some areas progress has been slower than anticipated, and actions that 

haven’t been commenced may have been rolled over to the next phase. 

Most actions also remain ‘in progress’ rather than ‘complete’, as they are 

ongoing and likely to continue for some time. Transformational change on 

the scale required is extremely complex. Significant amounts of work are 

being undertaken now that may take years to reach fruition, and new ways 

of working across systems with partners will need time to embed. 

4. Key Achievements 

4.1 There have been many key achievements to date, as detailed in the 

appended report. Some highlights include: 

 Mainstreaming climate and ecology by establishing it as a corporate 

priority, appointing a corporate director, beginning embedding it in key 

policy and strategy, and adopting a new decision-wheel for the design 

and evaluation of new policy, projects and strategies. 

 Establishing governance and a programme management approach for 

our organisational net zero 2040 target; and cutting our footprint by 

26% by the last report. 

 Phase 1 of our estate retrofit programme has now been completed, 

thanks to a £19m grant that has upgraded over 200 buildings with over 

350 renewable generation, heating or energy efficiency measures. 

 The initial phase of our Low Carbon Dorset Programme provided free 

advice and £6.2m in grant funding to local projects worth £17m, 

installing 13MW of renewables and saving 10kt CO2e/yr. Resource 

has been secured from the Shared Prosperity Fund to continue the 

advisory service. 

 Healthy Homes Dorset recently won a further £4.34m through HUG2 

funding, which will help further support with heating decarbonisation 

measures and energy efficiency upgrades for local households. 

Page 19



 Through our MEES Enforcement Project, landlords owning EPC rated 

F or G rated properties were engaged through targeting of 700 rented 

homes with guidance, support, and awareness – and it also saw the 

development of our ground-breaking “Energy Rating Improver”. 

 Interim guidance and a planning position statement have been 

prepared in lieu of the forthcoming Local Plan to highlight that climate 

change is a material consideration, and to support the consistent 

application of existing policies which maximise their opportunities to 

address climate change. A sustainability checklist has also been 

prepared for submission alongside applications, and additional 

guidance has been prepared on retrofitting listed buildings. 

 We have significantly changed the way we manage our verges in the 

last few years, improving an additional 350,000m2 for biodiversity as a 

result – with a consequent doubling in butterfly species since. 

 Through our Charging Ahead programme we’ve now completed Phase 

1 of our public EV charger rollout with Joju, with Phase 2 now 

underway. 144 public charge points are now available in Dorset, up 

from 63 in 2019. We are also 1 of 9 Local Electric Vehicle 

Infrastructure pilots, which initiated in March and is enabling £4m in 

funding to further invest in charging infrastructure – and could see a 

planned 175 charge points installed. 

 Our recycling and composting rate is 58.9%, putting us in the top three 

unitary councils in England, and our waste sent to landfill has been cut 

to just 2%. We’ve been listed in the top 3 councils in a national 

Recycling Carbon Index. 

 Dorset has been extremely successful at drawing in external funding 

streams, including £19m for the Salix programme, £8.25m for Low 

Carbon Dorset, £1.9m for EV infrastructure, another £4.3m of Home 

Upgrade Grant funding, and Shared Prosperity Fund funding. 

5. Next Steps  

5.1 Over the past two years the council has strengthened the governance and 

management of the programme, and we are now in a much stronger 

position to facilitate cross-service and cross-directorate working for a 

whole council approach during the next phase. 

Page 20



5.2 A significant amount has been achieved, but we are still only at the 

beginning of our journey, and it will remain very challenging to achieve our 

ambitions. As the progress report notes, we will face ongoing constraints 

around resourcing – with progress highly contingent on winning 

competitive grants. Grid constraints, and the delay until national decisions 

are made on key policy such as on the role of hydrogen in heating and 

transport, will also present obstacles in renewable deployment and retrofit 

to an extent. We will need to step more into areas that are less familiar 

too, such as the food system, and will need to develop a strategic 

approach to difficult tasks like behaviour change and offsetting. And we 

must give far greater attention to the risks of now unavoidable warming, 

and the local impacts it will have. 

5.3 As our refreshed action plan outlines, over the coming year we will be 

continuing our major programmes like Low Carbon Dorset, Healthy Homes 

Dorset, and our EV charger programme – as well as continuing to bid to 

source external funding to expand our capacity. Other critical immediate 

work will involve: 

 Embedding our new Impact Tool to support decision-making and 

sustainable project, policy and programme design; strengthening the 

activity of our green champions; and rolling out improved training for 

staff and members. 

 Embedding climate and ecology further within emerging strategies, 

especially our forthcoming Local Plan and Local Transport Plan. 

 Strengthening the consideration of climate and ecology in our 

commissioning and procurement processes. 

 Better understanding the baseline opportunities for nature and carbon 

sequestration on our estate, developing a Local Nature Recovery 

Strategy, and implementing Biodiversity Net Gain. 

 Further developing our climate risk vulnerability work for the council, 

and developing a partnership approach to adaptation for the county. 

 Strengthening our partnership working and its opportunities through 

our Public Sector Decarbonisation Group and with town and parish 

councils. 

 Lobbying further on key constraints to delivery like grid infrastructure. 

Page 21



6. Financial Implications 

6.1 This report itself has no financial implications. A costed action plan for the 

programme was presented to Cabinet on 6 October 2020, highlighting 

what could be achieved with existing resources, but stressing that 

significant additional revenue and capital would be required to deliver over 

its lifetime at the pace and scale required. Dorset Council made significant 

commitments in the 2022/23 Dorset Council budget. 

6.2 We will need to continue our success in accessing additional resources 

from a variety of external sources through competitive grant funding and 

partnership working – and will need to ensure we are opportunity ready  

with the right evidence and resources to win funding competitions.  

7. Natural Environment, Climate & Ecology Implications 

7.1 The specific purpose of this report and the strategy is to present Dorset 

Council’s overall approach to sustainability, detailing overall progress.  

8. Well-being and Health Implications 

8.1 There are no specific health and wellbeing implications of this report. 

However, from a strategic perspective, implementation of the strategy and 

action plan has significant co-benefits for health and wellbeing, and 

climate change impacts include significant socio-economic and health and 

wellbeing risks. Our emerging work on adaptation is considering how to 

mitigate the impacts of now unavoidable warming. 

9. Other implications 

9.1 There are no other specific implications contained in this report. As 

previously noted, the strategy and action plan itself has wide ranging 

implications, opportunities, and benefits for the way the council delivers 

services and works with others across the county.  

10. Risk Assessment 

10.1 Having considered the risks associated with this decision; the level of risk 

has been identified as: 

Current Risk: High  

Residual Risk: Medium 

10.2 Due to the known high level of public interest in the climate change 

agenda and the previous commitment to provide the public with a bi-

Page 22



annual progress report, to not do should be considered a high reputational 

risk to Dorset Council. 

10.3 The publication of this report is in line with commitments made and shows 

a significant level of progress; but notes that there remains a need for 

increased urgency and further progress. 

10.4 In addition, the impacts of climate change pose a significant risk to council 

services and budgets and the wider Dorset area in the medium and long-

term. Failure to effectively address the climate and ecological emergency 

and resilience will increase the risks associated with climate change. 

11. Equalities Impact Assessment 

11.1 A scoping exercise is currently being undertaken to highlight any specific 

impacts that need to be considered through the delivery of the strategy 

and action plan. 

12. Appendices 

 Appendix A - Natural Environment, Climate and Ecology: Phase 1 (2021-

23) Progress Report – Summer 2023 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



++ 

   

Natural Environment, 

Climate and Ecology 
Phase 1 (2021-23) Progress Report – Summer 2023 

Page 25



2 
 

Introduction 
 

Back in 2019, one of the council’s first actions was to make a declaration on the significance 

of the threat posed by climate change and biodiversity loss, and it then promptly established 

a cross-party Executive Advisory Panel to gather information and make recommendations 

on actions. 

The council adopted its first strategy in 2021, setting clear targets towards a carbon neutral 

council by 2040 and a carbon neutral county by 2050. Projects were then set into motion, 

officers recruited (including a new Corporate Director), governance established, and 

significant capital resource dedicated to delivery. As part of the Dorset Council Plan, the 

council also made ‘protecting our natural environment, climate and ecology’ as one of our 

five council priorities. 

In March this year – two years on – we refreshed our strategy and action plan for Phase 2 -

taking stock considering progress to date and new national policy, and tweaking our vision 

for a net zero, nature positive and resilient council and county. 

This report aims to end the first phase by taking stock of what has been achieved so far 

against the original 2021-23 action plan, and to give recognition to the scale of activity to 

date. 

But the final section also aims to stress that the scale and speed of change required to 

continue to deliver are significantly challenging. Championing the council’s significant 

achievements to date should not distract us from the magnitude of the task that lies ahead if 

we are to continue progressing along our decarbonisation and nature recovery trajectory – 

let alone also preparing to make ourselves resilient to the growing early impacts of climate 

change. 

As the report below outlines, not everything has been initiated in this first phase and there 

has inevitably been some prioritisation given resource constraints. But there has been a 

significant amount that has been accomplished and which set a very strong foundation for 

the next phase of our work.  

 
The sections below are split into the themes and underlying objectives for each element of 
the original 2021-2023 action plan. The status of each action is listed alongside the 
corresponding action in the refreshed 2023 action plan. A short narrative is provided on key 
highlights of progress for each objective. The overwhelming majority of actions are noted as 
‘in progress’, reflecting that most are underway but ongoing long-term actions. Some have 
not commenced and have been rolled over to the next phase. 
 
This report provides a qualitative narrative of progress against actions but does not provide 
a quantitative description of our emissions and our consequent progress against our 
emissions trajectory. The latter is the subject of our Autumn/Winter progress reporting. 
 
Contents 

Making it Happen 
Buildings 
Economy 
Food & Drink 
Natural Assets 

Renewables 
Waste 
Transport 
Water 
The challenge ahead 

 

Page 26



3 
 

Making it happen 

 
Objective 1: Ensure Climate and ecological concerns are embedded at the 
heart of decision and plan making 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Ensure procurement processes and strategy embed climate and 
ecological concerns 

In progress E6 

 Ensure climate change, climate resilience and ecological 
enhancement are embedded in our key strategies and plans, such 
as the developing Dorset Local Plan and our asset management 
plans. 

In progress E3 

 Develop tools to undertake robust impact and policy appraisal to 
ensure climate change & ecological priorities and targets are 
considered in all key corporate projects, programmes, and 
strategies, and will utilise whole-life costing when assessing all 
capital projects. 

In progress E2, F21 

 Review climate risk assessments undertaken by former district 
councils and latest Met office data, in order to fully understand risks 
to DC by climate change and develop a climate adaption plan. 

In progress 
O19, 
O20 

 

Climate and ecology is one of the top priorities embedded within the Council Plan and 

Delivery Plan, and the 2023 MTFP includes climate change as a priority. Our refreshed 

Natural Environment, Climate and Ecology Strategy was also adopted in March 2023 to 

clarify our path for the next phase of our work, and now more clearly articulates the three 

pillars of climate, ecology and resilience. Work to embed within wider strategies is ongoing 

as they emerge, and recently include the Library Strategy, Commercial Strategy, emerging 

Housing Strategy, and emerging corporate strategies on data and people.  Work is ongoing 

to embed within the Local Plan given its delayed adoption, and interim planning guidance 

has been produced until then. A new post was created in November 2022 to help facilitate 

embedding, and a new Impact Tool was adopted in March 2023 which should help better 

steer policy and strategy development to effectively embed climate and ecology. The new 

Service Plan template also now explicitly prompts on how the plan supports protecting our 

natural environment, climate and ecology. 

An Impact Tool was developed and approved in March. It will support officers and members 

to identify and understand their impacts as they develop projects, programmes, and 

strategies; and give a clear and visual summary of impacts to support decision-makers. We 

are now working to integrate it into the report writing process: developing guidance for users, 

training for our green champions, and developing comms for its rollout. 

As noted, climate and ecology has been embedded as a priority within our Commercial 

Strategy – and Cabinet reiterated commitment to sustainable procurement through the 

Procurement Forward Plan in February. Accordingly, there are a range of climate and 

ecology considerations within the Social Value Evaluation Questions for suppliers on CO2, 

renewables, waste, and water use amongst others. Some relevant tools, guides and training 

are provided in the council’s Learning Hub in the Commercially Minded (part of the 

Commercialisation Transformation Programme). The Impact Tool will further help inform 

commissioning and procurement decision-making. 

Work to review council-wide vulnerability to climate risk impacts has now commenced and 

will then be used to review our risk management approach – including for the optimisation of 

Page 27

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/35024/3284687/Dorset+Councils+Plan+2022+to+2024+v2+FINAL+VERSION+%28Dec+22%29.pdf/3879463e-6393-faa3-639c-70828eb0c4bd
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/35024/3284687/Dorset+Councils+Delivery+Plan+2022-2024+v3+final.pdf/e97c5db1-f9b1-d7dd-604d-d35cb91925c7
https://consultation.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/spatial-planning/dorset-council-planning-for-climate-change/
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s33889/Env%20Climate%20and%20Ecology%20decision%20wheel%20-%20Report%20and%20appendix%20A.pdf
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s33889/Env%20Climate%20and%20Ecology%20decision%20wheel%20-%20Report%20and%20appendix%20A.pdf


4 
 

Emergency Plans. Some climate risks are incorporated into the council’s corporate risk 

register. 

Work to commence a county-wide climate risk partnership approach will be developed 

during the next phase of work, and is being phased to follow the council risk assessment and 

the next National Adaptation Programme (which should produce localised climate resilience 

data to inform the approach). 

Objective 2: Ensure leadership & governance are in place to ensure delivery 
of Climate and Ecological Emergency strategy 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Ensure enough human resource is in place to drive forward action 
either through Council departments or involvement of wider partners. 

In progress E5 

 Investigate decarbonising Dorset Council pension scheme In progress O18 

 Lobby Government for additional resources and the national policy 
framework to support climate & ecological action in Dorset 

In progress E4 

 Review governance structures to ensure successful delivery of the 
Climate Strategy and ensure key decision-makers have a clear 
mandate for action.  

Complete E1 

 Actively input into national forums and consultations to encourage 
policy development to tackle climate & ecological emergency  

In progress E4 

 Actively participate in inter authority climate emergency networks as 
well as national networks set up by LGA, APSE etc.. To share and 
build best practice  

In progress E7 

 Ensure all staff are aware of their responsibilities in the delivery of 
actions, and that departments are linked at a strategic level (e.g. 
waste and planning). 

In progress 
E10, E1, 
E2, E3 

 

A costed action plan presented to cabinet on 6 October 2020, highlighted that significant 

additional revenue and capital would be required to deliver the strategy over its lifetime at 

the scale and pace required. £10m capital was allocated in 2022/23 over 5 years, which is 

strengthening work underway on our operational footprint in key areas.  

The central Sustainability Team was strengthened in 2022 by the creation of a new Director 

of Climate Change role and a Policy Officer role – alongside co-opting two other short-term 

officers within the team. A Programme Manager was also appointed for the Operational 

Programme, to help manage the much wider decentralised network of officers across the 

council who are delivering actions. 

Maximising opportunities for external funding and partnership working are key and over the 

past year Dorset Council has been extremely successful at drawing in external funding 

streams. This has included £19m for the Salix programme, £8.25m for Low Carbon Dorset, 

£1.9m for EV infrastructure, large portions of the £4.5m Shared Prosperity Fund for Low 

Carbon Dorset’s continuation and Healthy Homes Dorset, another £4.3m of Home Upgrade 

Grant funding following earlier £859k Green Homes Grant funding, and £1.3m for the AONB-

administered Farming in Protected Landscapes programme. 

Only 1.2% of the total investment assets of the Dorset Council pension fund were in fossil 

fuels in 2022. The fund is managed by Brunel Pension Partnership – a £35bn pool scheme 

of ten funds (including 9 local authorities and the Environment Agency). It is a signatory to 

Climate Action 100+, and adopted a refreshed Climate Change Policy in February 2023, 

following a Climate Stocktake. It regularly publishes performance reports – including an 

annual R&I report, a Carbon Metric Report and TCFD Climate Action Plan Report. Most 

recently, compared to its benchmark its aggregate portfolio is 27% less carbon intensive on 

Page 28

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Brunel-Climate-Change-Policy-2023-30-2.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Brunel-Climate-Stocktake-Report-1.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/2023/05/24/2023-responsible-investment-and-stewardship-outcomes-report-published/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/climate-change/carbon-metrics-report/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Brunel-TCFD-Report_2021.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/2023-Responsible-Investing-and-Stewardship-Report.pdf


5 
 

a Weighted Average Carbon Intensity (WACI) basis and 35% less than the baseline set in 

2019. 

Lobbying on climate has been undertaken on matters pertaining to energy, planning and 

transport with the Secretary of State for Housing, the Minister for Energy, Clean Growth & 

Climate Change and the Minister of State for Housing amongst others. 

The programme’s quarterly Operational Group was established in July 2022, with a 

programme manager appointed and delivery leads assigned to 8 workstreams to support 

delivery of the council’s 2040 net zero target. To date this has achieved a 26% reduction in 

emissions, 22/23 emissions figures will be published in Autumn 2023. To support the 

Facilitation Programme, we have established a Public Sector Decarbonisation Group to act 

as a forum for sharing best practice and developing aligned and joint projects with local 

public sector partners in Dorset. 

The council has responded to national consultations on a regular basis, such as 

government’s net zero review and the Environmental Audit Committee’s call for evidence on 

electrification.  

The council participates in local and national forums, in addition to the Public Sector 

Decarbonisation Group noted above, including ADEPT, the Southwest Inter-authority 

Climate Change Officers Network, the University of Exeter’s Communities of Practice, LGE 

and APSE groups, and relevant participation in non-climate specific but relevant strategic 

bodies like the Western Gateway STB. The council is also a member of multiple relevant 

natural environment partnerships, including Dorset Coast Forum, the Urban Heaths 

Partnership, and the Local Nature Partnership. 

The adoption of climate and ecology as key corporate priorities has been widely 

communicated to all staff through briefings, senior director meetings and internal comms 

campaigns – alongside the programme approach being driven by the Operational Group. 

Several senior members and staff have received accredited carbon literacy training and an 

internal staff training programme is being developed. A Green Champions Network has also 

recently been established to further help champion and facilitate action across the 

organisation, and the Impact Tool will further help embed understanding of responsibilities. 

Objective 3: Ensure adequate levels of resources are in place to ensure 
successful delivery 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Respond to government calls and submit high quality grant 
applications for all themes 

In progress E5 

 Explore options to raise additional funds through borrowing, council 
tax, developer contributions, and business rates.  

In progress E5 

 Develop a finance strategy to enable us to deliver this climate 
emergency response. This includes establishing invest-to-save 
schemes, asset rationalisation, and building projects into our capital 
programme 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

E5 

 Work with partners to maximise opportunities for external funding 
from government and others, making sure Dorset gets its fair share.  

In progress E5 

 

Responding to government grant opportunities is an ongoing area work, and successful bids 

of over £50m have already been secured in key areas such as Public EV charging, the 

Public Sector Decarbonisation scheme, the Transforming Cities Fund, Home Upgrade Grant, 

and supporting wider collaborative bids with partners such as for the Social Housing 

Decarbonisation Scheme.  

Page 29



6 
 

Other options for raising additional funds were scoped and continue to be explored, and 

projects have been built into our capital programme through a £10m allocation. A finance 

strategy has not yet been developed, but opportunities like climate bonds may merit further 

exploration in the next phase of the programme.  

The council’s Infrastructure Funding Statement evidences multiple relevant CIL and s106 

funded projects which have been undertaken, including for flood defences, nitrate mitigation, 

heathland mitigation, green infrastructure and SANG, infrastructure for modal shift, recycling 

infrastructure and community growing space. Under the Dorset Biodiversity Appraisal 

Protocol compensation funds are secured for the residual loss of habitat from development. 

Mitigation funds raised through s106 and CIL are facilitated by steering groups and 

mitigation coordinators for Heathland, Nitrate, Recreation pressures. 

 

Objective 4: Ensure robust Monitoring & Reporting of progress 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Develop a robust baseline for council and county carbon emissions 
and ecology 

In progress E11 

 Monitor and report on actions and progress in achieving carbon 
reduction by producing an biannual report (twice yearly) of progress 
on climate change targets, budgets, and actions.  

In progress E11 

 Include climate and social value criteria in the South West audit 
partnership audit requirements 

In progress E2 

 Further explore & expand the Dorset county footprint, beyond the 
data provided by central government, to provide a wider 
understanding of Dorset’s emissions to include other GHGs,. 
agriculture & land use and consumption where feasible 

In progress E11 

 Consider monitoring & reporting wider emissions from council 
activities (Scope 3) such as procurement. 

In progress E11 

 Work with key partners to develop approach and methodology to 
strategically monitor ecological quality and monitor success in 
tackling ecological emergency  

In progress E11 

 

The council’s scopes 1 & 2 emissions baseline along with some elements of scope 3 has 

been determined and forms the basis of autumn quantitative reporting (last Autumn 2022). 

Good options for Scope 3 baselining have been identified, but there are resource constraints 

on implementation that will need considering in the next phase. An ecological baseline is 

intended to be included in the autumn 2023 report, with work already underway to produce 

this. 

Some monitoring and reporting of Scope 3 emissions (such as commuting) is already 

integrated within our progress reporting. Achieving monitoring of procured and 

commissioned activity will be a significant piece of work for the next phase. 

A methodology for strategic monitoring of ecological indicators has been scoped and work is 

underway to develop these. It should be noted that there may be a need to align these to 

any statutory monitoring requirements imposed upon the forthcoming Local Nature Recovery 

Strategy and Biodiversity Net Gain policy as these emerge and embed over the next couple 

of years. 

Climate change is included in SAWP audit programme, and feasibility of wider integration is 

to be considered.    

Page 30

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/dorset-council-community-infrastructure-levy
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/w/dorset-biodiversity-appraisal-protocol-dorset-compensation-framework
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/w/dorset-biodiversity-appraisal-protocol-dorset-compensation-framework
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s31424/Appendix%20A%20-%20CEES%20Progress%20report%20-%20Autumn%202022.pdf


7 
 

Biannual reports are now produced for Scrutiny, with a qualitative narrative on action 

produced in Spring/Summer, and a quantitative report on progress against targets produced 

in Autumn/Winter (with the latter timed to coincide with the release of county-scale emissions 

statistics). 

Government county-scale statistics have now been expanded to incorporate agriculture and 

waste emissions sources. Consumption emissions are identifiable at the county scale from a 

separate source, and we will consider the potential inclusion in future reporting. 

Objective 5: Raising awareness to support action and behaviour change   
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Develop a consistent brand for Climate plan initiatives Complete n/a 

 Organise targeted briefings and training sessions for officers, 
members, and decision makers on the benefits and opportunities of 
tackling climate change, highlighting this contribution to other council 
priorities. 

In progress E10 

 Establish an internal climate change champions programme  In progress E10 

 Improve the awareness, engagement, and knowledge of our staff 
and service providers through staff awareness campaigns, with a 
focus on how employees can reduce their carbon emissions. This is 
in addition to increasing their climate resilience in the workplace and 
at home and integrating key climate change messages into induction 
programmes. 

In progress E10 

 Provide more accessible and digestible information on climate 
change and ecology and the actions we can take through a range of 
channels 

In progress E9 

 

A consistent ‘Greener, Cleaner Dorset’ brand for the programme has now been developed 

and adopted (as per the front page of this report). 

Targeted briefings and training sessions have been given to members, staff, and town and 

parish councils. This has included informal briefings by the team, training offered by the Met 

Office through Learning Hub, and formal accredited Carbon Literacy training offered to some 

senior leaders and members through the LGA. Recent sessions for Town & Parish Councils 

held through DAPTC are available here. Further training is currently being developed, 

including for implementation of the new Impact Tool, as is a Sharepoint site within the 

intranet Council Plan pages. 

A Green Champions programme has now been established and staff can now sign up to 

participate through the council intranet. This complements wider awareness and 

engagement campaigns focused at staff on issues such as energy efficiency. A Yammer 

climate community for staff has also been established. 

Accessible public information has also been provided through social media and our updated 

website (including guidance on what action individuals, communities and businesses can 

take), alongside advice for businesses and organisations and households, on EV charging, 

the natural environment and waste management amongst others. We’ve also achieved 

press coverage via our press releases on climate, environment and waste.  

 

 

 

Page 31

https://www.dorset-aptc.gov.uk/2023_44834.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/protecting-our-environment
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/what-you-can-do-individuals
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/what-you-can-do-communities
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/what-you-can-do-businesses
https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/resources/
https://www.healthyhomesdorset.org.uk/energy-advice
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/parking/parking/electric-vehicle-charge-points
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/countryside-coast-parks/countryside-coast-and-parks
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/bins-recycling-and-litter/bins-recycling-and-litter
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/category/climate-change/
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/category/topic/environment/
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/category/topic/dorset-waste-partnership/


8 
 

 

 

 

Objective 6: Supporting Community Action 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Help to facilitate and support new and existing community-led 
projects and community organisations active in this area and work 
with these groups to sign post and communicate shared messages.  

In progress E8 

 Support Town and Parish Councils to develop and implement their 
organisation and area wide climate action plans. This is as well as 
helping them engage with residents to encourage community action 
and drive change at a grassroots community level. 

In progress E8 

 

Proactive support to community organisations has been given through advice and grants 

provided to Low Carbon Dorset’s community projects, and grants are also available for 

environmental projects via our Capital Leverage Fund, Biodiversity Compensation Fund, and 

Community & Culture Fund – as well as signposting to wider funding opportunities through 

the Dorset Council Fund Finder. Guidance for communities is available on our website, and 

our recycling team also offer visits and talks for community groups. 

Technical advice to local councils has been provided through the Low Carbon Dorset 

programme and in addition to engagement at this year’s DAPTC AGM we’ve also begun a 

series of town & parish council webinars focusing initially on general guidance, EVs and 

buildings – including provision of general guidance on opportunities and funding sources. 

We are also now working with parishes to deliver a community tree planting programme. 

This will involve training to support good decision making, support for the development of 

parish tree plans and support with planting. A community questionnaire has been sent out 

and completed by ~65 parishes that is helping to guide the development of the programme. 

We are also working with Public Health Dorset on a school tree programme in west Dorset. 

Objective 7: Engagement with key Stakeholders 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Consult with residents, young people, T&P Councils and key 
organisations on this strategy and plans as they develop 

In progress E9 

 Develop a Dorset Climate Emergency Partnership group with other 
key public, private, and third sector partners to deliver a carbon 
neutral county 

In progress E7 

 Build support from stakeholders and the wider public by informing 
and educating on the benefits and opportunities of acting on climate 
change and creating, maintaining, and developing partnership 
working on all aspects of climate change action 

In progress E9, E7  

 

To develop the original strategy, extensive consultation with our communities was 

undertaken in 2020/2021, including a Call for Ideas, and with over 12,000 comments 

received and analysed to inform the strategy and action plan. Further engagement will also 

be undertaken for the development of our Local Nature Recovery Strategy and other 

relevant strategies like the Local Plan. 

Page 32

https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/community-case-studies/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-community/support-for-voluntary-and-community-organisations/funding/capital-leverage-fund
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/w/dorset-biodiversity-appraisal-protocol-dorset-compensation-framework
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-community/support-for-voluntary-and-community-organisations/funding/community-and-culture-project-fund
https://www.idoxopen4community.co.uk/dorset
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/what-you-can-do-communities
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/bins-recycling-and-litter/reducing-and-reusing/recycling-talks
https://www.dorset-aptc.gov.uk/2023_44834.aspx
https://www.dorset-aptc.gov.uk/_UserFiles/Files/Working%20Together%20Webinars/2023%2004%2027%20Climate%20Environ%20and%20ecology/2023%2004%2027DAPTC%20Climate%20WTW.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/emergencies-severe-weather/climate-emergency/climate-ecological-emergency-strategy/climate-ecological-emergency-strategy-your-ideas
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/local-nature-recovery-strategy


9 
 

Dorset Youth Council gives the opportunity for young people to engage with decision-

makers, and participants from the Youth Council engaged in the Inquiry Day held for 

developing the council’s climate strategy. The strategy development process also saw 

representatives from Dorset schools engage with the Executive Advisory Panel and included 

a visit by the panel to Damers school to learn about their eco-school activity. Young people 

also had the opportunity to engage with decision-maker’s the 2022 Youth Climate 

Conference. 

The council encourages Dorset schools to participate in the eco-schools award scheme, and 

Dorset has many schools that do outstanding environmental work – including a large number 

of Green Flag eco-schools. Resources for schools are also available through our climate 

pages, Litter Free Dorset, and our recycling team also undertakes direct engagement. 

Multiple local schools are also independently participants in EnergySparks and Solar for 

Schools. 

A Public Sector Decarbonisation Group has been established for sharing best practice and 

developing aligned and joint projects with key Dorset public sector partners. Other forms of 

partnership working have been established to in part address climate and ecology even if not 

singularly focused on it (such as our Enhanced Partnership with bus operators). 

Consideration of forums or task & finish groups with other sectors will be considered in the 

next phase where there is practical added value for clear outcomes (such as to facilitate 

county-wide adaptation work).  

Objective 8: Increase Renewable energy generation in Dorset 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Lobby central government over the major hurdles to renewable 
energy deployment, the Navitus Bay decision, investment needed on 
grid infrastructure, and future of heat 

In progress E4 

 
Lobbying of central government, network operators and others on major barriers has been 
undertaken, including through a letter from the Leader. Evidence has also been provided to 
both network operators, government, committee inquiries, and via consultation responses to 
help demonstrate the local challenges, such as through the BEIS net zero review. This has 
in part utilised evidence commissioned by the LEP from Regen. We also have ongoing 
liaison with network operators and are engaged in relevant national & regional groups. 
 

Objective 9: Increase resilience to climate change – Funding 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Lobby government for more funding for climate risk management In progress E4 

 
Lobbying on climate resilience will be undertaken in the next phase of work as our 
adaptation programme develops to align with the development of the forthcoming National 
Adaptation Programme due to launch in 2023 (which, inter alia, should facilitate localised 
data). 
 

Objective 10: Influence national government to secure additional funding 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Lobby government e.g. for Rail improvements In progress E4 

Page 33

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/dorset-youth-council
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/35024/281291/Dorset+Youth+Voice.pdf/04d17602-27da-2cd4-5b0d-c745a27e62af
https://www.dorsetecho.co.uk/news/20204702.young-people-dorset-say-climate-change/
https://www.dorsetecho.co.uk/news/20204702.young-people-dorset-say-climate-change/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/schools-and-learning2
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/schools-and-learning2
https://www.litterfreedorset.co.uk/learning-zone/schools-programmes/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/bins-recycling-and-litter/reducing-and-reusing/recycling-talks
https://www.regen.co.uk/publications/dorset-lep-energy-investment-plan/


10 
 

 
Lobbying has been undertaken through various means. Most recent, the Cabinet Member for 
Environment and Transport gave evidence to the Parliamentary Transport Select Committee 
in early January 2023 as part of its inquiry into Rural Connectivity. 
 
 

Objective 11: Decarbonise heating in housing and community, public and 
commercial Buildings 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Lobby government for clarity on national strategy for heat and 
national policy framework 

In progress E4 

 
Pro-active lobbying of Government for powers and funding has been undertaken through 
direct representation to government, lobbying of, MP’s and representation through national 
groups. 
 

Buildings 
 

Objective 1: Ensure Council estate becomes zero carbon by 2040  
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Develop & implement decarbonisation programme to achieve carbon 
neutral estate by 2040 

In progress 
O1, O2, 

O3 

 Include climate & ecological considerations as part of the Asset 
Review and ensure future asset management plan is aligned to 
achieving DC carbon budgets to 2040 

In progress E3 

 Install energy efficiency measures as part of the decarbonisation 
programme to achieve carbon neutral estate by 2040 

In progress O3 

 Install small scale renewable energy systems as part of the 
decarbonisation programme to achieve carbon neutral estate by 
2040 

In progress O1 

 Expand centralised Building energy management system (BEMS) In progress O3 

 Re-instate a school’s energy programme to support and work with 
schools to reduce energy and maximise use of renewable energy 
technologies 

In progress 
O1, O2, 
O3, F7 

 Establish baseline for ICT emissions & Develop plan to reduce 
emissions from ICT consumption 

In progress O13 

 Review operational controls on energy using equipment across 
council estate to ensure optimum efficiency 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O3 

 Ensure procurement processes give preference to energy efficient 
equipment & water efficient equipment 

In progress E6 

 

The council has now completed decarbonisation plans for 80 buildings (including all PSDS 

buildings and remaining off-gas schools), and a plan is in place to develop a new Strategic 

Asset Management Plan that is aligned to our zero carbon targets – which should be 

developed by end of 2023. 

Phase 1 of our estate retrofit programme has now been completed, thanks to a £19m grant. 

This has upgraded over 200 buildings with over 350 renewable generation, heating or 

energy efficiency measures – including 100 solar installations, 18 heat pumps, 6 battery 

storage projects, 31 electrical infrastructure upgrades, 45 LED upgrades, 12 fabric upgrades, 

6 insulation projects, 185 Building Management System upgrades, and a Free Air Cooling 

Page 34

https://committees.parliament.uk/oralevidence/12596/html/


11 
 

project. Future such work will be contingent on future rounds of Public Sector 

Decarbonisation Scheme funding. 

The programme has also supported many schools to undertake retrofit and solar PV works, 

realising significant energy savings for over 100 schools – including engaging young people 

in projects through the installation and monitoring of measures. This has included the 

upgrading of academy legacy BMS systems to help ensure savings are maintained post-

academisation. 

We’ve yet to undertake a comprehensive review of operational controls on energy using 

equipment during phase 1 but have prioritised retrofit and the baselining of our ICT 

equipment emissions specifically. The ICT baseline now complete and we are now 

developing targets and an action plan to cut these, which is due end of July. We have 

already minimised the number of servers and installed ‘free air cooling’ for the datacentre 

and are working on a proof of concept to remanufacture council laptops – as well as looking 

at reuse and recycling options for decommissioned devices.  

Work to further review operational controls on energy-using equipment has been 

incorporated into the 2023-25 action plan (O3). Energy and water efficiency are factors 

within our social value scoring and our new Impact Tool should prompt further emphasis on 

this, but work remains to prioritise these in equipment procurement decision-making. 

Objective 2: Ensure all new Council developments are zero carbon 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Establish a policy to ensure all new buildings that Dorset Council 
has direct influence over (as landowners, clients, or designers) are 
zero carbon (this being true zero carbon, and so a negative BER to 
cover the unregulated emissions).  

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O5 

 Develop and promote case studies and examples of best practice on 
our own estate to encourage replication by others 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O5 

 Ensure use of sustainable materials in new constructions  
Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O5 

 Investigate available tools to incorporate whole-life costing into 
property processes  

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O5 

 Trial tools to measure the embodied carbon in construction, such as 
the open source “EC3” tool 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O5 

 

Work to establish a policy, trial tools, and create case studies for new council developments 

to be zero carbon is yet to be delivered owing to resource constraints and has therefore 

been rolled over into the 2023-25 action plan (O5), and a policy officer has been recruited to 

the Sustainability Team who can support to help take this forward.  

Whilst a policy could be developed within 6 months, implementing it will be contingent upon 

whether capital allocations for future building projects covers the associated costs. 

Objective 3: Decarbonise heating in housing and community, public and 
commercial buildings 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Targeted campaign to encourage all buildings off the gas grid to 
switch to heat pumps or biomass for heating 

In progress F5, E9 

 Investigate large scale installation of low carbon sources of heating 
(air/ground/water source heat pumps) using social housing as a test 
bed in partnership with RSLs 

In progress F4 

Page 35



12 
 

 Investigate potential in Dorset for large-scale ‘blue’ hydrogen 
generation with carbon capture and storage 

In progress F4 

 Provide support for Dorset Council employees working from home in 
winter - funding/ thermal upgrades/advice 

In progress O7 

 Undertake heat mapping exercises to identify opportunities for low 
carbon heat in Dorset such as any clusters of buildings suitable for 
district heating, or large heat demands off the gas grid 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F18 

 Use council buildings in trial projects to test the use of hydrogen 
heating 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O2 

 

A programme to decarbonise heating has been initiated through several programmes, 

including for public buildings through our Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme 

programme, for housing through our Healthy Homes Dorset programme, and for community 

and commercial buildings through our Low Carbon Dorset programme. 

Further such work will be contingent upon our receipt of further grant funding. The council, 

with Public Health Dorset and BCP council, has recently won a further £4.34m through 

HUG2 for our Healthy Homes Dorset programme, which will help further support heating 

decarbonisation measures and energy efficiency upgrades for local households. This 

includes a targeted campaign for homes that are off gas, low income, or EPC D-G.  

The council’s Sustainability Team supported SW Net Zero Hub to make a regional 

consortium application for the Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund, as part of a larger 

regional bid to support large-scale installation of low carbon heating in social housing. It has 

subsequently been awarded £37.7m to support the delivery of over £82m worth of ‘fabric 

first’ home upgrade measures to bring low-income households up to EPC rating C. This 

includes, for example, £1.4m for Magna Housing, £0.53m for Aster Group, and £9m for 

Stonewater to undertake measures. 

Investigation of the potential for hydrogen for Dorset was commissioned from Regen by our 

Local Enterprise Partnership, and is detailed in our Low Carbon Energy Route Map and 

Investment Opportunities. Our Low Carbon Dorset programme has subsequently supported 

Canford Renewable Energy’s green hydrogen project with a £1.5m grant. The South West’s 

first green hydrogen production facility, it was granted full planning permission by the council 

in October 2021 for the installation of a 5MW solar farm and 0.90MW electrolyser to produce 

125,000Kg of green hydrogen annually. The next phase of our work will further investigate 

the potential for hydrogen and trials locally. 

An ongoing energy saving advice campaign began in June 2022 for employees and 

residents. It provides advice, a guidance booklet, and signposts to support available through 

our Healthy Homes Dorset programme. It was circulated through multiple channels including 

displays on our estate, our website, our resident newsletter, and social media. Further Low 

Carbon Dorset guidance resources, integrating low carbon heating, have also been 

produced. Further such campaigns will emphasise the opportunities of the national Boiler 

Upgrade Scheme and Home Upgrade Grant. 

Work on heat mapping has been explored and a standard approach has been discussed at 

national and regional level. Further resource is required to action, but discussions continue 

with Government & Partners – so it has been rolled over to Phase 2. Trialling has also been 

rolled over to Phase 2 when policy and tech better serves such activity. 

 

Objective 4: Ensure new buildings in Dorset are zero carbon 
 

Page 36

https://www.swenergyhub.org.uk/uncategorised/help-for-south-west-homes-to-reduce-energy-bills/
https://www.magna.org.uk/news/magna-awarded-gbp-1-4m-to-make-homes-more-energy-efficient
https://www.aster.co.uk/news/aster-group-to-invest-an-additional-1m-in-homes-across-south-west-england-to-help-reduce-energy-bills
https://www.stonewater.org/news/press-releases/800-homes-to-benefit-from-energy-efficiency-improvements/
https://www.regen.co.uk/publications/dorset-lep-energy-investment-plan/
https://www.regen.co.uk/publications/dorset-lep-energy-investment-plan/
https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/2022/01/27/dorset-paves-way-for-green-hydrogen-in-south-west/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/climate-energy-saving-advice
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/35024/290224/Dorset+Council_Energy+and+Money+Saving_Booklet+Revised.pdf/05bf4526-f95c-3b28-36fb-a8dec4420f20
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/dorset-council-news-magazine-issue-9-winter-2022
https://twitter.com/DorsetCouncilUK/status/1658723720003764224
https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/resources/
https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/resources/


13 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Develop a positive planning framework, in partnership with other 
agencies, for achieving true net zero carbon home standards in 
Dorset 

Rolled over 
to phase 2 

F19 

 Encourage designs and layouts which lend themselves to low-
carbon energy solutions and ecological enhancements and provide 
guidance and advice for developers to achieve zero carbon 
standards 

In progress F19 

 Ensure the relevant housing strategies/policies incorporate the 
reduction of carbon emissions, decreased risk to climate impacts & 
ecological enhancements. 

In progress F19, E3 

 Develop trials and pilots, with RSLs, of localised offsite 
manufacturing for new build and retrofit 

Rolled over 
to phase 2 

F7 

 Continue to lobby central government over changes to national 
policy to encourage and enforce carbon-neutral planning and 
development  

In progress E4 

 

Strengthening the planning framework to encourage sustainable designs, layouts and 

construction methods will be achieved through the development of the new Local Plan. Work 

to prepare a new Local Plan has been underway since unitarization, but its adoption has 

now been delayed until 2026. Until it is adopted the existing adopted local plans of the 

former district and borough councils will provide the main part of the development plan for 

their respective areas. 

Interim guidance and a position statement has therefore been prepared to highlight that 

climate change is a material consideration and to support the consistent application of 

existing policies which maximise their opportunities to address climate change. Furthermore, 

a sustainability checklist has also been prepared for submission alongside applications, and 

additional guidance has been prepared on retrofitting listed buildings. These documents 

were approved by Cabinet on 28 March subject to a six-week consultation.  

Furthermore, the Dorset Biodiversity Protocol has been established to address the impacts 

on biodiversity, to ensure that development must avoid, mitigate and compensate for such 

impacts. Ecology Guidance for Planning Applications has been produced for developers, 

providing a flow-chart or checklist and guidance on which surveys may be required. The 

protocol sits alongside further Supplementary Planning Documents pertaining to issues such 

as heathland and nitrogen mitigation. Work is currently now underway to establish a system 

for ensuring that developments also realise a 10% net gain in biodiversity. 

The council’s Housing Strategy is being developed in 2023, and the Sustainability Team are 

currently engaged to embed our strategic ambitions for climate, nature and adaptation within 

its emerging objectives, targets and policies. 

No trials or pilots have yet been undertaken with RSLs on offsite manufacturing, and this has 

been carried over into the 2023-25 Action Plan (F7). 

Lobbying on the climate emergency (including on the Planning White Paper and the 

consultation on Future Homes Standard) has been undertaken with the Secretary of State 

for Housing, the Minister for Energy, Clean Growth & Climate Change and the Minister of 

State for Housing.  

 

Objective 5: Improve energy efficiency of current housing stock  
 

Page 37

https://consultation.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/spatial-planning/dorset-council-planning-for-climate-change/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/countryside-coast-parks/countryside-management/biodiversity/the-dorset-biodiversity-appraisal-protocol


14 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Deliver funding to assist residents to decarbonise heating (delivered 
through Healthy Homes Dorset Scheme) 

In progress F5 

 Educate residential and non-residential sectors on low carbon 
technologies, energy efficiency, and sources of funding to 
encourage behaviour change & greater uptake of low-carbon 
technology 

In progress 
E9, F1, 

F5 

 Enforce minimum energy efficiency standards in the private rental 
sector (focus on EPC certificates E & F without exemptions) 

In progress F6 

 Work in partnership (e.g. with RSLs, other councils and partners) to 
deliver programmes to improve energy efficiency of housing stock & 
hard to treat properties 

In progress F7 

 Promote innovative and sensitive energy efficiency/renewable 
energy measures in conservation areas and on listed buildings 
which preserve and enhance such assets for the needs of existing 
and future occupants 

In progress 
F1, F5, 
F7, F20 

 

As per the above on heating, energy efficiency and low carbon tech interventions have been 

initiated through our Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme programme, Healthy Homes 

Dorset programme and Low Carbon Dorset programme.  

For residential housing, our Healthy Homes Dorset Programme is a partnership with Public 

Health Dorset and BCP that is facilitating insulation installation for warmer, healthier, and 

cheaper to run local homes, with 300 completions in 2022-23 alone. Green Homes Grant 

Local Authority Delivery 1a has now been delivered and closed. Over £4m of further Home 

Upgrade Grant 2 funding has been secured for delivery in 2024/25 – alongside securing 

funding from the Contain Outbreak Management Fund to fund projects ineligible for HUG2, 

£500k cost of living funding to complement HUG2 for delivery in gas-served homes, and 

£500k Shared Prosperity Fund funding for wider programme work. Additionally, we also 

provide guidance through our website and supported DCAN’s Greener Open Homes 

campaign in 2022. 

The council was awarded £98,000 to improve the most poorly insulated rented homes in 

Dorset through our MEES Enforcement Project. Landlords owning EPC rated F or G rated 

properties were engaged through targeting of 700 rented homes with guidance, support, and 

awareness. The project has now largely completed, enabling a comprehensive 

understanding of let properties. Through the project we also developed our ground-breaking 

“Energy Rating Improver”, which enables landlords to access EPC ratings and improvement 

options/costs for their property. This has been a fundamental tool to improving EPC ratings 

on over 200 properties so far, and the project has received recognition on the Net Zero 50 

list for public sector digital innovations NET ZERO 50, as well as a finalist for the 2022 

Granicus Digital public sector awards. 

As noted above, the Sustainability Team supported SW Net Zero Hub to make a regional 

consortium application for the Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund, which was awarded 

£37.7m to deliver ‘fabric first’ home upgrade measures. 

As noted above, a position statement, sustainability checklist and guidance for listed 

buildings has been developed to help to promote and guide on measures in conservation 

areas and listed buildings and should be implemented later this year subject to the results of 

consultation.  Our programmes have also demonstrated the potential, such as through 

facilitating deployment at heritage sites like Durlston Castle and Sherborne Abbey. 

Objective 6: Increase resilience to climate change – Buildings 

Page 38

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/climate-energy-saving-advice
https://www.dorsetcan.org/all_projects/dorset-greener-open-homes/
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/06/21/solar-panels-installed-at-iconic-durlston-castle/


15 
 

 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Develop local plan policies to ensure climate risks are identified and 
avoided in new developments, including flood risk and overheating 

Rolled over 
to phase 2 

F19 

 Ensure Emergency Plans are adapted to reflect changing climate 
risks and are tested and proven fit for purpose 

In progress O20 

 Work with partners to increase climate change resilience of 
communities & buildings by understanding the future climate risks 
within Dorset 

Rolled over 
to phase 2 

F34 

 

Strengthening the planning framework for more climate resilient designs, layouts and 

construction methods will be achieved through the development of the new Local Plan, 

which has now been delayed until 2026. 

A series of flood investigations and flood alleviation interventions have been undertaken over 

the last decade, the most notable being a £750,000 scheme installing resilience measures 

for 94 homes.  Flood alleviation schemes in Bridport and Portesham have been completed, 

and our Building Resilience in Communities project is underway in Weymouth, to engage 

communities in flood risk management and boost resilience. Over 40 natural flood 

management structures have been installed. 

Work to review council-wide vulnerability to climate risks has now commenced and will then 

be used to review our risk management approach – including for the optimisation of 

Emergency Plans. 

Work to commence a county-wide climate risk partnership approach will be developed 

during the next phase of work and is being phased to follow the council risk assessment and 

the next National Adaptation Programme (which should produce localised climate resilience 

data to inform the approach). 

Economy 
 

Objective 1: Maximise opportunities for clean growth in Dorset and 
encourage investment in green jobs and business 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Ensure clean growth is included within the DLEP investment 
prospectus & low carbon projects are developed in readiness for any 
future funding/investment 

In progress E5 

 Engage with government in defining local gigabit strategy and 
delivery plan for 100% gigabit-capable coverage by 2026.  

In progress E4, F13 

 Work with DLEP to ensure clean growth at the centre of Dorset’s 
local industrial strategy  

Complete n/a 

 Work with partners to support the provision of local training for green 
skills 

In progress F35 

 Promote the low carbon and renewable energy economy in Dorset 
and encourage investment to create high quality and skilled  jobs 
and businesses in this sector. 

In progress F36 

 Work with partners to attract inward investment in green sector 
businesses with highly skilled workforces. 

In progress F36 

 Use potential COVID-19 recovery funds to provide investment in 
low-carbon technologies & ecological enhancements for key sectors 

Complete n/a 

 Support greater deployment and strengthen high-speed broadband/ 
ICT infrastructure in Dorset to enable business to utilise greater 

In progress F13 

Page 39



16 
 

home working, reduce travel and facilitate innovation and 
collaboration 

 Investigate opportunities building renewable energy infrastructure 
and retro fitting on council employment land & premises (industrial 
estates/hotels etc) 

Rolled over 
to phase 2 

O1, O2, 
O3 

 Investigate building renewable energy infrastructure at Dorset 
Innovation Park 

Rolled over 
to phase 2 

F36 

 Develop the Dorset Innovation Park to become a centre of 
excellence in clean growth & ecological enhancement by 
encouraging low carbon business into the area, facilitating research 
and development and ensuring best practice low carbon buildings. 

Rolled over 
to phase 2 

F36 

 

Clean growth was placed at the core of both the Dorset Living Better investment prospectus 

(in its Natural pillar) and the Dorset Local Industrial Strategy, and the LEP produced a Green 

Economy dashboard. Shared Prosperity Fund funding has since been secured for low 

carbon projects with economic benefits (including for the continuation of our Low Carbon 

Dorset and Healthy Homes Dorset programmes), and Dorset LEP has also provided 

investment to Dorset Green H2 through its Growing Places Fund loan scheme. 

Green skills have been included within the Local Skills Improvement Plan, with net zero one 

of its 6 priorities – and based upon local employer research using surveying and interviews 

on net zero. The Shared Prosperity Fund will provide funding for green skills training in 

FY2025. The Dorset Green Skills Hub – a partnership between Bournemouth & Poole 

College, Weymouth College and Skills & Learning Adult Community Education – launched in 

late 2022 with the help of a major government grant; and commenced its course offerings in 

2023. 

Further to those, additional work to promote the green economy and encourage investment 

is ongoing with clients but details here are commercially sensitive. Strategic work to better 

promote the green economy will be enabled by the planned 2024 refresh of the Economic 

Growth Strategy. 

Some Covid-19 business support was provided through Additional Restrictions Grants, but 

there was little demand for exclusively green actions. 

A classification of broadband coverage areas was undertaken, and the Digital Dorset team 

identified areas in need of improved broadband across 35 sites to inform Government’s 

Project Gigabit programme. The Gigahub Connectivity in Rural Dorset Project is now well 

underway, with over 7,000 local homes and businesses the first nationally to benefit. The 

council has been awarded almost £900,000 to oversee the project, and a contract has been 

awarded to Blandford-based Wessex Internet to deliver the rollout in North and East Dorset. 

The second phase is due to launch later this year. Digital Dorset has also undertaken 

facilitation work to enable digital connectivity, including through support schemes like the 

Gigabit Voucher scheme, the Embedded Digital Champion project and the annual Festival of 

the Future. 

Further resource is required to undertake feasibility work for council employment land and 

premises, including to source legal guidance on what is possible to achieve under the scope 

of leases. This has therefore been rolled over to the Phase 2 Action Plan. 

Investigation of prospective renewable infrastructure at Dorset Innovation Park has been 

rolled over into 2023 Action Plan (O1). Work to develop Dorset Innovation Park into a centre 

Page 40

https://investindorset.com/
https://www.dorsetlep.co.uk/local-industrial-strategy
https://www.dorsetlep.co.uk/green-economy
https://www.dorsetlep.co.uk/green-economy
https://dorsetchamber.co.uk/lsip/
https://dorsetchamber.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/LSIP-Net-Zero-Analysis-Report-Full-310323.pdf
https://www.dorsetlep.co.uk/news-article/dorset-s-green-skills-hub-launched
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/public-review-broadband-coverage-areas
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/improve-your-internet-connectivity/connecting-dorset-a-guide-to-broadband-support-schemes
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/improve-your-internet-connectivity/gigabit-broadband-voucher-scheme
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/digital-dorset/digital-dorset/digital-champion-training-for-frontline-workers
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/festival-of-the-future-2022
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/festival-of-the-future-2022


17 
 

of excellence in clean growth and low carbon has also been rolled over into 2023 Action 

Plan (F36) 

Objective 2: Turning Dorset into a Low Carbon tourist destination 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Work with the tourism sector to develop specific programmes of 
support for sustainable tourism & make Dorset a low-carbon tourism 
destination 

In progress F36 

 

Visit Dorset created an action plan in 2021. It has since created a directory of eco-friendly 

accommodation (including those with EV chargers), a sustainability business support hub, a 

guide for green tourism in Dorset for visitors, promoted Low Carbon Dorset to local 

businesses, and has hosted webinars for local businesses. It is also a sponsor of the Dorset 

Tourism Awards, which includes an award in recognition of sustainable tourism. Visit Dorset 

was also a founder member of the Great South West Tourism Partnership to engage in 

regional-scale lobbying, and helped to shape the partnership’s Towards 2030 prospectus, 

which included an ask for a regional eco-friendly visitor destination project. A Dorset Council 

Sustainable Tourism Plan has been drafted including actions for implementation by a variety 

of council run services to lower the carbon footprint of tourism. 

Objective 3: Support Dorset businesses to become more energy and 
resource efficient and to install renewable energy 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Actively promote best practice case studies and target key 
organisations who could benefit most from low carbon technologies 
in partnership with the LEP and business sector organisations 

In progress E9, F1 

 Support businesses to become more energy and resource efficient 
and to install renewable energy by working with partners to expand 
Low Carbon Dorset programme 

In progress F1 

 

The initial phase of our Low Carbon Dorset Programme provided free advice and £6.2m in 

grant funding to local projects worth £17m, installing 13MW of renewables and saving 10kt 

CO2e/yr. An extension was secured to the programme to June 2023 to provide further 

technical support and grants to Dorset businesses. Resource has been secured from the 

Shared Prosperity Fund to continue the advisory service beyond June. 

Low Carbon Dorset developed a series of best practice case studies (including 19 business-

focused case studies), an info pack for businesses, and a guide to reducing emissions. The 

work of the programme has been promoted by the LEP and the Dorset Chamber of 

Commerce amongst other routes, including social media campaigns and the local business 

press. 

Litter Free Dorset has established the Sustainable Business Network and award scheme to 

recognise and celebrate positive business activity, holding its launch event in January. 

Dedicated resource is required to assess the feasibility of renewable and energy efficiency 

interventions on council employment land and premises. Limitations to implementation may 

be imposed by leases, so policy will be required to provide legal steer on development of a 

draft green lease template in co-operation with Assets and Regen. 

 

Page 41

https://www.visit-dorset.com/accommodation/search-results/?bounds=false&view=grid&sort=qualityScore&filter_amenities%5B0%5D=Facility_Electric%20Car%20charging%20point&filter_amenities%5B1%5D=Facility_Eco%20Friendly
https://www.visit-dorset.com/industry/business-resources/make-your-business-sustainable/
https://www.visit-dorset.com/ideas-inspiration/eco-friendly/
https://heartofswlep.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Towards-2030-Reimaging-the-Visitor-Economy-in-the-South-West.pdf
https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/
https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/business-case-studies/
https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/business-case-studies/
https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/LCD_InfoPack_BusinessSector.pdf
https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/guide-to-reducing-emissions
https://www.dorsetlep.co.uk/low-carbon-dorsetlep
https://dorsetchamber.co.uk/race-to-net-zero/
https://dorsetchamber.co.uk/race-to-net-zero/
https://www.dorsetbiznews.co.uk/power-your-business-and-save-on-energy-bills-with-grants-of-up-to-40-per-cent-available/
https://www.dorsetbiznews.co.uk/power-your-business-and-save-on-energy-bills-with-grants-of-up-to-40-per-cent-available/
https://www.litterfreedorset.co.uk/projects-campaigns/sustainable-business-award/


18 
 

Objective 4: Increase resilience to climate change – Economy 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Work with partners to help businesses to be more resilient to climate 
change through helping them understanding their key risks and 
actions they can take to become more resilient 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F34 

 

The council’s work as Lead Local Flood Authority incorporates works that benefit local 

businesses and engages them on risks. Major projects serving to increase economic 

resilience to flood risks include a series of flood investigations and alleviation interventions 

(such as in Bridport and Portesham) and the Building Resilience in Communities project in 

Weymouth – including supporting Dorset Coast Forum to produce the recently launched 

Flood Risk in Weymouth Guide. 

As regards wider climate-related resilience risks, work to scope potential components of a 

county-wide adaptation partnership programme have been developed and will be phased to 

benefit from the third National Adaptation Programme (NAP3) due to launch in 2023. 

Food & Drink  
 

Objective 1: Increase local, low-carbon food production in Dorset 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Ensure well provisioned new allotments are provided wherever 
possible through the planning process and work with Towns and 
Parishes to enable community use 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F25, F19 

 Work with producers, supermarkets, local business's (restaurants 
and café's) and partners to promote 'local food' Green Kitchen 
Standard/ Food for Life and reduce food miles 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F24, F25 

 Promote home growing to residents as part of wider communication 
campaigns 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

E9, F25 

 Develop plan to transition Council Farms to low carbon production - 
Work with County Farm tenants to encourage the adoption of more 
climate and ecological friendly practices, greater protection of soils, 
and share best practice with the wider farming community  

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O16 

 Increase range of edible fruits on Council owned open spaces e.g.  
through development of community orchards scheme 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F25 

 Ensure procurement processes give preference to local food and 
explores carbon reduction opportunities in catering services and 
contracts 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

E6 

 

Further allotment provision policy would be covered by the future Local Plan, which has 

been delayed until 2026. 

 

There has been limited activity working with businesses or residents on promoting low 

carbon foods so far, and this has been rolled over to Phase 2. Some general supporting 

advice on food is provided through our website, and the council continues to support Dorset 

Food & Drink (a not-for-profit, community interest company) which supports and promotes 

local food and drink businesses. 

 

Work has commenced to survey our council farms to identify further opportunities for nature 

and climate. This includes contracted work to undertake baseline ecological surveys on the 

Page 42

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/climate-food-and-drink-advice
https://dorsetfoodanddrink.org/
https://dorsetfoodanddrink.org/


19 
 

existing and potential biodiversity value of 15 council farms, part-funded by the AONB’s 

Farming in Protected Landscapes programme. 

Action on edible fruits has been rolled over to Phase 2, though we do already provide some 

guidance on planting trees, including fruit trees. Action on food within procurement will also 

be undertaken within broader work on procurement to be pursued in Phase 2. 

All food waste collected is treated in-county using anaerobic digestion which produces 

biogas used to generate electricity, and biofertilizer sold as a soil improver for plants and 

crops. A weekly food waste collection service is available to all properties, including 

communal premises. Our Zero Waste Map signposts to food banks and community fridges 

which facilitate redistribution, and the council also promotes the Love Food Hate Waste 

campaign. Litter Free Dorset also undertake food waste campaigns. 

 
The council has enabled some land for community growing (such as the lease of land for a 
peppercorn rent for use by Bridport Community Orchard), provided grant support to local 
organisations supporting surplus food redistribution (such as The Nest in Weymouth and 
Blandford Community Fridge), and has supported the development of a food network 
through cost of living funding to ensure all residents have access to sustainable, affordable 
food – which is in part facilitated through surplus redistribution. 
 

Objective 2: Encourage more low carbon cooking and meals 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Promote the principles and benefits of low carbon healthy cooking 
e.g. Green Kitchen Standard/ Food for Life and EATS to residents of 
Dorset 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F24 

 Explore adoption for local food Green Kitchen Standards/Food for 
life & reduce food miles within existing Dorset Council contracts 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

E6 

 

Action on encouraging low carbon food consumption has been rolled over into the 2023-25 

action plan (F24, F25, E6). 

Objective 3: Increase resilience to climate change - Food & Drink Supplies 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Work with partners to help food & drink suppliers within Dorset to be 
resilient and adapt to climate change 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F34 

 

Work to scope potential components of a county-wide adaptation partnership programme 

have been developed and will be phased to benefit from the third National Adaptation 

Programme (NAP3) due to launch in 2023. 

 

Natural Assets 
 

Objective 1: Protect and increase ecological value, carbon sequestration and 
climate resilience on Council land 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Work with tenants of Council Farm’s to promote and ensure best 
environmental practices are upheld and share best practice with the 
wider farming community 

In progress O16, F26 

Page 43

https://www.dorsetaonb.org.uk/resource/farming-in-protected-landscapes/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/35024/281291/Dorset+Council+Tree+Planting+Checklist+2020_compressed+%281%29.pdf/968adb99-be48-c53e-70b6-4a73a213b8c7
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/bins-recycling-and-litter/which-bin-do-i-use
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/dorset-zero-waste-map
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/bins-recycling-and-litter/reducing-and-reusing/current-campaigns-and-offers/love-food-hate-waste
https://www.litterfreedorset.co.uk/projects-campaigns/food-waste/
https://www.bridport-tc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/17-01-22-BCOG-Memorandum-of-Understanding-ENCL-3687.pdf
https://www.thenestweymouth.co.uk/donate
https://blandfordforum-tc.gov.uk/the-town/community-fridge
https://www.dorsetcommunityfoundation.org/news/food-projects-boosted-by-partnership-with-dorset-council/


20 
 

 Review all Dorset Council chemical use to ensure no harm to 
unintended species 

In progress 
O15, 
O17 

 Develop a scientifically robust approach to identify & monitor carbon 
sequestration values of council owned open space 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

E11 

 Creation of suitable high ecological value areas on council land (incl. 
bee-friendly, wild flower, hedge & woodland planting zones) & areas 
for carbon sequestration & climate resilience 

In progress O15 

 Identify areas on Dorset Council land to enhance ecological value, 
carbon sequestration and climate resilience (surface water run off 
and natural flood management). 

In progress O15 

 Reduce use of fertilizers on council land by increased use of locally 
produced compost  

In progress 
O15, 
O16 

 

Work has commenced to survey our council farms to identify further opportunities for nature 

and climate. This includes contracted work to undertake baseline ecological surveys on the 

existing and potential biodiversity value of 15 council farms, part-funded by the AONB’s 

Farming in Protected Landscapes programme. A process is also underway to commission a 

review of the ecological baseline on a selection of council land to identify biodiversity uplift 

potential. 

Our Natural Environment team has also already been working closely with the council farm 

estate to enhance their ecological value, including through the introduction of barn owl boxes 

and restoration and creation of great crested newt ponds. 

All compost now used across our Greenspace Team, landscaping projects and grounds 

maintenance services are peat-free and is sourced from local green waste recycling. We 

continue to minimise the use of pesticides and consider alternative control methods. We 

have also replaced nearly all petrol engine hand tools with battery driven equivalents and 

installed solar panels at the depot where they are charged.  

Work to identify and monitor natural sequestration on the council estate has also been rolled 

over to the next phase of the programme. 

Objective 2: Protect and increase ecological value, carbon sequestration and 
climate resilience in Dorset 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Develop and provide guidance to ensure community tree planting 
initiatives are ecologically robust & sensitive to local landscape 
(‘right tree in the right place’) e.g. Tree planting checklist 

Complete E9 

 Continue with & further develop Partnership working (e.g. Urban 
Heaths Partnership, Dorset Coast Forum and Dorset Local Nature 
Partnership) to maximise opportunities for joint working and external 
funding 

In progress E7 

 Work with town & parish councils to promote best practice within 
their greenspace & communities 

In progress E8, E9 

 Increased tree planting where suitable to avoid detrimental effects 
on other habitat 

In progress 
O15, 016 
F26, F28 

 Continue to support partners to investigate the opportunities to  
reintroduce beaver colonies to facilitate flood prevention and to 
improve water quality and enhance biodiversity  

In progress 
O15, 016 
F26, F28 

 Expand ‘cut and collect’ verge management to increase ecological 
value  of highway verges 

In progress O17 

 Promotion of ecologically friendly gardens to residents  In progress E9 

 Communicate to businesses and land owners good practice in terms 
of protecting and enhancing ecological value, carbon sequestration 
and climate resilience 

In progress E9, F26 

Page 44

https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/09/22/barn-owl-numbers-double-since-boxes-put-up-on-council-farms/


21 
 

 Develop business case for large scale commercial carbon 
sequestration scheme within Dorset & implement scheme if feasible 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F29 

 Work in partnership with Lead Flood Authority and EA to develop 
SUD's SPD ensuring that drainage solutions are of high ecological 
value 

In progress F20 

 Work with internal & external partners to identify opportunities for 
large scale rewilding 

In progress F28 

 Work with partners to connect fragmented habitats across the 
county 

In progress F28, E7 

 Ensure all new developments  conform the Environment Act's 
requirement  for 10% biodiversity gains for all new developments 

In progress O14 

 

The council has also produced a tree planting checklist for residents, and we are also now 

working with parishes to deliver a community tree planting programme. This will involve 

training to support good decision making, support for the development of parish tree plans 

and support with planting. A community questionnaire has been sent out and completed by 

c.65 parishes that is helping to guide the development of the programme. We are also 

working with Public Health Dorset on a school tree programme in west Dorset. 

We have significantly changed the way we manage our verges in the last few years, 

improving an additional 350,000m2 for biodiversity as a result – with a consequent doubling 

in butterfly species since. To support pollinators and butterflies we have increased the 

amount of ‘cut and collect’ mowing for urban verges within the 30mph road network to North 

Dorset, Weymouth, Portland, Purbeck, Bridport, West Dorset and East Dorset – cutting soil 

fertility and growth rates to enable wildflowers to establish and thrive, and reducing cuts from 

7 a year to 2 within some areas. We also now cut B and C class rural roads once instead of 

twice a year. Some verges have been designated as SNCIs as a result. 

Dorset Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty is delivering a £1.3m Farming in Protected 

Landscapes programme, engaging landowners on good practice by enabling 40 projects so 

far to implement measures like woodland creation, regenerative farming, soil health and 

flood mitigation measures. 

The council continues to work closely with the Urban Heaths Partnership, Litter Free Dorset, 

Dorset Coast Forum, our AONBs, Local Nature Partnership, and Stour Valley Partnership. 

Most recently, a Heathland Mitigation review for Dorset has taken place to evidence that the 

mitigation methods and the work of Urban Heath Partnership is working and of value. An 

increase in resources has been provided which means 61 schools can now be targeted and 

we are currently recruiting a new campaigns officer to deliver more behaviour change 

campaigns on heathlands. Litter Free Dorset run campaigns like #Loveyourverge and a 

recent project 'reconnecting to nature Spaces’ which is connecting those with disabilities to 

local nature areas. Dorset Coast Forum are coordinating the Seagrass in Studland project 

(which will provide wildlife and carbon sequestration benefits) in line with the Voluntary No 

Anchor Zone at Studland. We also participated in the LNP’s Nature Recovery Workshop and 

its Annual Forum. 

Signposting for residents on wildlife-friendly gardening is available through our tips for 

individuals on our webpages, and we ran a #LetGrassGrow campaign for No Mow May. 

Exploration of potential commercial carbon sequestration has yet to be undertaken and has 

been rolled over to the next phase of the programme as part of the wider piece of work on 

defining our approach to offsetting – with mitigation prioritised in the initial phase. Work on 

developing an SuDS SPD was also initiated but has been delayed due to the postponement 

Page 45

•%09https:/www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/35024/281291/Dorset+Council+Tree+Planting+Checklist+2020_compressed+%281%29.pdf/968adb99-be48-c53e-70b6-4a73a213b8c7
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/w/verge-cutting-information-dorset
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/countryside-coast-parks/countryside-management/protecting-bees-and-butterflies
https://www.dorsetaonb.org.uk/resource/farming-in-protected-landscapes/
https://www.dorsetaonb.org.uk/resource/farming-in-protected-landscapes/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/countryside-coast-parks/dorset-heaths/protecting-and-managing-the-heaths
https://www.litterfreedorset.co.uk/
https://www.dorsetcoast.com/
https://dorsetlnp.org.uk/
https://www.dorsetcoast.com/projects/studland-bay-marine-partnership/
https://dorsetlnp.org.uk/nature-recovery-nov22/
https://dorsetlnp.org.uk/annual-forum-2023/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/climate-nature-and-wildlife-advice
https://twitter.com/DorsetCouncilUK/status/1663923488246095879


22 
 

in the development of the Local Plan – but a SuDS Advice Note has been produced for 

ecological consultants and developers. 

The identification of priority areas for habitat creation and restoration – including for tree 

planting and large scale rewilding – will be incorporated within the development of a wider 

Local Nature Recovery Strategy, which has just commenced with an officer recently 

appointed. Preliminary mapping of Dorset’s ecological networks is already available showing 

high value existing areas and potential defragmentation.  

Objective 3: Use of various planning gains to increase ecological value, 
carbon sequestration and climate resilience 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Develop policy to ensure where ever possible additional land 
brought about by planning gain is managed in-house  to benefit from 
economies of scale and to ensure ecological value and carbon 
sequestration potential is maximised  

In progress F19, O14 

 Develop strategic approach to draw together planning gains from 
various ecological mitigation schemes  e.g. Biodiversity, Nitrates and 
Heathland schemes etc to maximise the ecological benefits to 
Dorset 

In progress O14 

 Use developer contributions secured through the planning system to 
provide and sustain high-quality public open space that is capable of  
meeting the needs of current and future residents/visitors  

In progress E5 

 

Mechanisms have been agreed that for all major developments the Natural Environment 

Team will receive consultation on planning applications and assess green infrastructure 

proposals, including early conversations to discuss DC land ownership opportunities. The 

council has 5 ecologists, four of whom are engaged in day-to-day review of planning 

applications. Further policy may be considered through the development of the Local Plan. 

Dorset Council has both adopted and interim planning policy to manage development 

affecting protected habitats. Our Biodiversity Appraisal Protocol and Biodiversity 

Compensation Framework are helping to enable new development better conserves and 

enhances nature. Developer compensation funds are spent on nature and greenspace 

projects all over Dorset, such as to purchase a 13-acre site to create a new nature reserve 

near Blandford. Mitigation is secured through developer contributions including Community 

Infrastructure Levy and s106. These mechanisms remain ongoing and are used when 

development opportunities affecting protected areas come forward. Steering groups and 

associated mitigation coordinator roles have been established to manage Heathland, Nitrate, 

Recreation pressures. These coordinators and their groups have facilitated the identification 

and delivery of new open spaces (SANGS) to reduce recreational pressures on protected 

heathlands; improved monitoring; and increased wardening to raise awareness and support 

behaviour change. 

Example projects include: For Wild Woodbury we have provided heathland mitigation money 

to purchase a large SANG site. £150,000 will be provided to Swanage railway trust to open 

up 3ha of woodland site (part of Purbeck park). Many Rights of way improvements have 

been made. Nitrate mitigation money has been used to enable Dorset Wildlife Trust to 

purchase Wild. We’re currently procuring two wetland feasibility studies, mitigation money 

used to purchase Mildown Nature Reserve. For our birds and recreation initiative, mitigation 

money was spent on the lake Pier project. For Chesil and the Fleet mitigation, new signage 

at Chesil centre, 20 volunteers recruited and new volunteer kits provided, a community 

Page 46

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/35024/291228/Sustainable+Drainage+Systems+Advice+Note+v1+2021.pdf/e5281329-ad80-0d83-aaea-2e96bb758033
https://dorsetlnp.org.uk/dorsets-ecological-networks/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/w/dorset-biodiversity-appraisal-protocol-dorset-compensation-framework
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/w/dorset-biodiversity-appraisal-protocol-dorset-compensation-framework
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2023/01/10/dorset-council-to-create-new-nature-reserve/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/dorset-council-community-infrastructure-levy
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/dorset-council-community-infrastructure-levy


23 
 

warden placed in post, little tern officer in place, and all monitoring enabled with new time 

lapse cameras and automated counters. 

Work is now underway to implement 10% Biodiversity Net Gain, with a working group 

established and work underway including for the preparation of interim guidance, awareness 

raising materials and templates. 

Objective 4: Ensure decision making around use of natural assets is based 
upon ecological value 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Work with development management team to ensure green 
infrastructure advice team is involved in all relevant planning 
applications to ensure ecological value and recreational 
opportunities are fully considered  

Complete F22 

 

The Green Infrastructure team has now merged with the Natural Environment Team, and 

relevant officers (ecology, heathland) are now on the planning consultation list. Substantial 

work is also now underway to prepare for the implementation of Biodiversity Net Gain. 

Objective 5: Increased appreciation and engagement with areas of high 
ecological value 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Further develop and promote the health & wellbeing benefits of 
publicly accessible high ecological value land 

In progress 
F19, 

O14, E9 

 Work in partnership  with Children’s and Adult Services to identify 
and create opportunities for natural environment to be better utilised 
on social care offer 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F30 

 

The council promotes getting active in greenspace through its health and activity pages, 

including ‘green gym’ conservation activities. Connection with nature was also the focus of 

the 2021 Mental Health Awareness Week campaign. 

Multiple local projects have promoted nature-based activities for health and wellbeing, 

including the Natural Choices, Stepping into Nature and Nature Buddies projects, whilst the 

Healthy Places Programme and Dorset Local Access Forum have invested in improving 

access to greenspace in recognition of the value of the environment as a determinant of 

health. 

Our proposed outcomes for the forthcoming Local Nature Recovery Strategy includes that 

‘more people will have access to the health benefits of nature’. 

Work to develop nature-based opportunities with Children’s and Adult services as part of the 

social care offer has been rolled over into the 2023-25 Action Plan (F30). 

Objective 6: Increase accessibility of rights of way and off road routes 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Ensure rights of way network is fully promoted and maintained to a 
high standard  

In progress  

 Increase amount of well provisioned and well promoted off road 
routes 

In progress  

 

Page 47

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/sport-leisure/getting-active-schemes-and-groups/health-and-activity
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2021/05/09/connect-with-nature-for-mental-health/
https://dorsetlnp.org.uk/natural-choices/
https://www.dorsetaonb.org.uk/project/stepping-into-nature/
https://theartsdevelopmentcompany.org.uk/our-work/thriving-communities-social-prescribing/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/local-nature-recovery-strategy


24 
 

A significant number of rights of way issues have been resolved, keeping maintenance to a 

high standard. There has been a significant increase in off-road routes along old railway 

lines in West and East Dorset using developer contributions, as well as positive examples 

like the Castleman Trailway and improvements to the Dorset Coast Path.   

The Rights of Way Improvement Plan is being reviewed and updated and will be published 

in 2023 with a greater emphasis on the role Rights of Way can play in sustainable transport 

solutions. 

Renewable Energy 

 
Objective 1: Increase Renewable energy generation on council owned land 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Commission study to identify opportunities for small scale on-site 
renewable energy installations on council buildings & assets 

Complete O1 

 Commission study to identify opportunities for renewable energy in 
County Farms and council carparks. 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O1 

 Construct large renewable energy installation (around 60 MW of 
solar PV or 30 MW of wind turbines) on council owned land to meet 
council’s demand 

In progress O1 

 

A study on buildings and assets was completed in 2021 and our Public Sector 

Decarbonisation Scheme programme has facilitated 100 solar installations so far across the 

council’s estate. Further resource is required to undertake further feasibility work on the 

wider estate. Numerous options have been considered for large renewable installations but 

no firm plans have yet been developed. 

 

 

Objective 2: Increase Renewable energy generation in Dorset 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Extend Low Carbon Dorset Programme Complete F1 

 Deliver extended Low Carbon Dorset programme In progress F1 

 Work with renewable energy developers in Dorset to secure new 
renewable energy generation to meet (and exceed) needs of the 
County 

In progress F2 

 Establish a positive planning policy framework and toolkit  for 
maximizing the use of renewable energy within new developments 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F19 

 Undertake detailed resource mapping to confirm Dorset has the 
technical resources to be self-sufficient. Potential sites can then be 
identified in the Local Plan 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F18 

 As Local Planning Authority – actively encourage renewable energy 
deployment 
1. Identify suitable areas in local plan 
2. Guidance created for developers 

In progress F20, F18 

 Support expansion and awareness building of the Energy Local 
project in Dorset 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F2 

 Promote renewable energy technologies to residents & businesses In progress 
E9, F1, 

F5 

Page 48

https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/06/09/council-and-community-cut-the-ribbon-to-open-newly-improved-trailway/
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/07/21/new-sections-of-the-dorset-coast-path-for-walkers-to-enjoy/


25 
 

 Work in partnership with BCP to plan a zero-carbon energy system 
for Dorset 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F3 

 

£895k of additional funding has been secured through the Shared Prosperity Fund to extend 

the Low Carbon Dorset programme, and further options are being explored. A team has 

been recruited and the project got underway in April 2023. 

Ongoing discussions are underway with renewable energy developers in Dorset. Additional 

generation has come online in Dorset in the past three years, with approximately 500MW 

largescale renewable capacity now in total (mostly solar). 

Strengthening the planning framework will be achieved through the development of the new 

Local Plan. Work is underway but its adoption has been delayed until 2026. Interim guidance 

and a position statement has therefore been prepared to clarify what is possible in existing 

policy, and the interim position statement includes a section on Renewable Energy. Initial 

mapping of potential sites for onshore wind has been identified for the 2021 draft local plan, 

and we continue to look at assessment of landscape and heritage sensitivity to help inform 

decision making and potential new allocations in forthcoming Local Plan. 

Guidance on Community Energy is signposted to from our webpages. Energy Local Bridport 

is now live. Consideration of how to build support and awareness for such projects has been 

rolled over into Phase 2. 

The initial phase of our Low Carbon Dorset Programme provided free advice and £6.2m in 

grant funding to local projects worth £17m, installing 13MW of renewables and saving 10kt 

CO2e/yr. An extension was secured to the programme to June 2023 to provide further 

technical support and grants to Dorset businesses. Resource has been secured from the 

Shared Prosperity Fund to continue the advisory service beyond June. It provides guidance 

resources and case studies. Additionally, we also supported DCAN’s Greener Open Homes 

campaign in 2022. 

Work to develop a joint energy system plan with BCP has not been undertaken due to 

resource constraints, so has been rolled over into Phase 2. 

Transport 

 
Objective 1: Improve low carbon transport infrastructure 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Through the Local Plan ensure as far as possible that developments 
provide high quality spaces, routes and facilities, or contributions 
towards facilities, for pedestrians, cycles and other car-free modes, 
EV charging and cycle parking. 

In progress F19 

 Ensure access to sustainable transport is considered in planning 
applications 

In progress F19, F22 

 Investigate potential for small scale park & ride hubs with electric 
vehicle charging point availability 

In progress F10, F14 

 Reinforce low carbon transport policies through statutory planning 
documents including refreshed LTP and new Local Plan 

In progress 
E3, F9, 

F19 

 Keep cost/payback of streetlights, bollards and signals under review 
to identify when they meet a payback that satisfies loan 
requirements or finance policy requirements 

In progress O4 

 Reduce carbon emissions from transport infrastructure construction 
and maintenance 

In progress O11 

Page 49

https://consultation.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/spatial-planning/dorset-council-planning-for-climate-change/
https://consultation.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/spatial-planning/dorset-council-planning-for-climate-change/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/community-and-voluntary-groups
https://www.dorsetcommunityenergy.org.uk/projects/energy-local-bridport/
https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/
https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/resources/
https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/resources/
https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/case-studies/
https://www.dorsetcan.org/all_projects/dorset-greener-open-homes/


26 
 

 

Adoption of the Local Plan has now been delayed until 2026, but transport teams are 

working with Planning to embed sustainable transport within it. Preparation of a Local 

Transport Plan is currently underway, and both it and an accompanying quantified carbon 

reduction pathway will be adopted in 2025. 

Further discussion will be required to ensure that planning consultations are reaching 

appropriate officers, but a new post has been created in the Transport Planning Strategy and 

Policy sub-team to work closely with Transport Development Management and Planning. 

A proposal for a Weymouth Park & Ride scheme was included within the unsuccessful BSIP 

bid and also formed part of the Levelling Up Fund Round 2 bid. The team will continue to 

pursue park & ride hubs through routes such as BSIP, the Local Transport Plan, Local Plan, 

and Levelling Up Funds. 

A £250k investment in 2022/23 and £500k investment in 2023/24 was made from the climate 

fund into the LED streetlight replacement programme. Over a third of Dorset’s streetlights 

are now LED and, along with other measures, this has helped to halve its overall energy 

consumption since 2008. There remain two more years to complete the £2.5m programme. 

We’ve worked closely with our partners Hanson UK to become one of the first councils in the 

UK to use low energy asphalt at scale to construct and maintain roads in Dorset – making up 

42% of total surfacing (22,995 tonnes) in 2022/23.  We’ve also installed a new all-electric 

container (known as a hotbox) at our Charminster Highways depot to keep asphalt hot while 

it is stored to carry out local pothole and patching work – the first all-electric asphalt storage 

hotbox in the UK. We have also installed 415 solar panels on our Charminster depot roof. 

We’re also now using new processes to enable old road surface material to be remade as 

high-quality material for our roads with our partners Allasso Recycling – using over 14,000 

tonnes of this material last year, up 8,000 tonnes on previous years. 

 

Objective 2: Encourage decarbonisation of road transport  
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Encourage low carbon freight and logistics  In progress F11, E6 

 Encourage decarbonisation of road transport through development 
of public EV charging network & promotion of ultra low emissions 
vehicles  and hydrogen when relevant 

In progress F14 

 Encourage use of ultra low emission public transport vehicles 
(including taxis) – particularly smaller buses 

In progress F15, E6 

 

Our Electric Vehicle Strategy set our programme through to 2023, and is due to be refreshed 

in 2023. By 2030, the programme aims to get 80% of households within a 10-minute walk of 

a public chargepoint. Through our Charging Ahead programme we’ve now completed Phase 

1 of our public EV charger rollout with Joju, with Phase 2 now underway. 144 public charge 

points are now available in Dorset, up from 63 in 2019. We are also 1 of 9 Local Electric 

Vehicle Infrastructure pilots, which initiated in March and is enabling £4m in funding to 

further invest in charging infrastructure – and could see a planned 175 charge points 

installed. Feasibility studies were undertaken for ultrarapid hubs, and Mer (our charge point 

operator) have also proposed 4 charging hubs in key locations.  

Page 50

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/electric-vehicle-strategy-2021-to-2023
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2023/03/21/council-charges-ahead-with-plans-to-improve-electric-vehicle-charging-network-in-dorset/
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/09/21/dorset-council-starts-work-to-expand-electric-vehicle-charging-network-in-dorset/
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/09/21/dorset-council-starts-work-to-expand-electric-vehicle-charging-network-in-dorset/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/parking/parking/electric-vehicle-charge-points
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/parking/parking/electric-vehicle-charge-points
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/08/25/dorset-council-secures-funding-to-improve-electric-vehicle-infrastructure-in-rural-areas/
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/08/25/dorset-council-secures-funding-to-improve-electric-vehicle-infrastructure-in-rural-areas/


27 
 

Initial work is underway to explore potential opportunities of Hydrogen and other low carbon 

fuels for DC heavy vehicles.   

We included an outline bus decarbonisation plan within the BSIP, and are now awaiting 

further details on ZEBRA Round 2 funding to proceed – and also require funding to progress 

feasibility work. 

We contributed to the production of the SW Freight Strategy produced by our Sub-national 

Transport Board, which has decarbonisation as one of its six priorities. 

Objective 3: Encourage behaviour change in Dorset 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Review of parking policy to support mode shift In progress F20 

 Encourage and enable more walking and cycling through the 
production of local cycling and walking investment plans, related 
bids and initiating infrastructure delivery, and behaviour change 
through comms. 

In progress F10 

 Explore introduction of a bike share scheme in larger settlements In progress F10 

 Improve the quality and availability of public transport with a focus 
on maintaining the core network, better using S106 funds, and 
creating a new Enhanced Partnership scheme to make services 
more attractive to the travelling public. 

In progress 
F10, E7, 

E5 

 Encourage behaviour change through active & sustainable travel 
campaigns and initiatives. 

In progress F11, E9 

 Expand cycle training and independent travel training programmes In progress F11 

 Work with schools, parents and partners to reduce the carbon foot 
print of the daily school commute and pollution from idling vehicles 

In progress F11 

 Through the Local Plan ensure as far as possible that developments 
are located in sustainable locations where key services are nearby 
and the need to travel by car is reduced 

In progress F19 

 Engage with businesses to support sustainable business travel and 
active travel through the BTN or successor groups 

In progress F11 

 Deploy Mobility as a Service (MaaS) applications that provide clear 
information across a range of travel modes and promote use of the 
most sustainable travel options 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F12 

 

Our Enhanced Partnership with bus operators was established in 2022, and it is guided by 

our Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP). The first BSIP was published in 2021 and then 

updated in 2022, with a refresh to be published in 2023. It has a central target to move to a 

zero-emission bus fleet by 2035 (EV and hydrogen), and 60% of the fleet by 2030 (with the 

rest at Euro VI standard or better). We also require operators to submit an Environmental 

Statement when they submit a tender, including on how they’ll cut their carbon footprint. 

Dorset Council has developed and is continuing to develop a wide range of strategies in the 

Local Transport Plan (LTP), Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plans and the Dorset 

Local Plan to promote active travel across Dorset. 

The Transforming Cities Fund project with BCP is underway to improve infrastructure and 

facilities for active travel across East Dorset. Funding was also secured to upgrade sections 

of the National Cycle Network. 

Our website details an extensive set of resources to encourage cycling, including route and 

parking maps, training, health rides, and accessibility schemes.  

Page 51

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/bus-service-improvement-plan
https://westerngatewaystb.org.uk/our-work/freight/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/bus-service-improvement-plan
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/03/04/first-major-section-of-transforming-cities-fund-programmes-sustainable-travel-route-completes/
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/07/01/funding-secured-for-national-cycle-network-improvements/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/sport-leisure/cycling


28 
 

The Beryl bike scheme was launched in the southeast Dorset area in 2022 on national Cycle 

to Work day – providing 122 bikes and more than 50 bays. Further expansion is being 

investigated, including deployment in Weymouth and Dorchester. Expansion to southeast 

Dorset into Upton and Corfe Mullen is planned for summer 2023. Grant funding has also 

been received to sustain our current cycle training programme until March 2024, and we will 

continue to seek further funding to deliver more. 

The website also contains guidance on cycling and walking to school and on producing 

school travel plans. Promoting active travel in local schools has been an LTP priority, and we 

are continuing delivery of the Sustrans Bike It Project across local schools – following earlier 

work such as expanding cycle storage. 

Dorset has also been awarded £1.97m as part of the latest round of Active Travel funding to 

enable more safe routes for people on foot, in wheelchairs and on bicycles – including 

benefiting the school streets initiative to create safer environments for children as they 

commute to and from school. School Streets pilot schemes are currently already underway 

in Upton, Dorchester and Chickerell. 

Behaviour change comms campaigns and business engagement for active travel are to be 

developed as part of the LTP4 programme (the BTN has been inactive since Covid). 

Further enabling of policy in support of modal shift will be undertaken through development 

of the new Local Plan, whose adoption has been delayed until 2026. 

Deployment of Mobility as a Service applications was proposed within the BSIP but did not 

receive funding. We are therefore currently investigating with neighbouring authorities like 

BCP or Somerset to develop PT portals. 

Objective 4: Challenge Business as usual 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Encourage and facilitate behavioural change in the way staff travel 
to and for work including grey fleet reduction, strategic travel 
planning with partner organisations 

In progress O6 

 Reduce the need for staff to travel to and for work through remote 
working and the use of digital 

In progress O6 

 

A staff travel survey was completed in August 2022, and a relaunch of the council’s draft 

Travel Plan is currently under discussion for 2023. Our digital teams have helped enable 

remote working, which has cut employee commuter journeys and emissions significantly. A 

Dorset Workplace policy was adopted in 2021 to facilitate remote working. 

Employee benefits schemes are in place for bikes and electric vehicles through salary 

sacrifice schemes. There are also fold-up and electric bikes available for staff at request 

from County Hall. 

Objective 5: Reduce the need to travel in Dorset 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Working closely with Dorset Business Travel Network and Digital 
Dorset to promote the use of ICT to individuals and businesses to 
avoid travel / encourage working from home 

In progress F12 

Page 52

https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/08/01/beryl-bikeshare-boost-for-dorset-just-in-time-for-cycle-to-work-day/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/sport-leisure/cycling/cycling-and-walking-to-school
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/school-travel-plans
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2021/11/16/new-bike-storage-supports-more-people-to-cycle-to-school/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/school-streets


29 
 

The Digital Dorset team identified areas in need of improved broadband across 35 sites to 

inform Government’s Project Gigabit programme. The Gigahub Connectivity in Rural Dorset 

Project is now well underway, with over 7,000 local homes and businesses the first 

nationally to benefit. The council has been awarded almost £900,000 to oversee the project, 

and a contract has been awarded to Blandford-based Wessex Internet to deliver the rollout 

in North and East Dorset. The second phase is due to launch later this year. Digital Dorset 

has also undertaken facilitation work to enable digital connectivity, including through support 

schemes like the Gigabit Voucher scheme, the Embedded Digital Champion project and the 

annual Festival of the Future. 

Objective 6: Increase resilience to climate change – Transport 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Understand key risks and potential costs posed by climate change to 
transport & travel in Dorset 

In progress O19, F34 

 

Baselining and evidence gathering for the Local Transport Plan includes the emissions 

baseline and an Issues & Opportunities report. A consultation on the Issues & Opportunities 

Report is planned for later in 2023. 

Work to review council-wide vulnerability to climate risk impacts has now commenced and 

will then be used to review our risk management approach – including for the optimisation of 

Emergency Plans. 

Work to commence a county-wide climate risk partnership approach will be developed 

during the next phase of work, and is being phased to follow the council risk assessment and 

the next National Adaptation Programme (which should produce localised climate resilience 

data to inform the approach). 

Objective 7: To green the council fleet 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Pursue the option to implement an electric refuse fleet by first 
establishing accurate data regarding the performance of its existing 
fleet. 

In progress O9, E11 

 Maximise ultra low carbon vehicle replacement within the Dorset 
Council fleet 

In progress O9 

 Expand electric vehicle charging points and other ultra-low emission 
fuel alternatives across the council property estate.  

In progress O8 

 Adopt a vehicle replacement policy that includes suitable electric 
minibuses at cost effective prices becoming available from 2025 but 
that the market is kept under continuous review  

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O9, E6 

 Minimise personal vehicle use for business travel through the 
introduction of ULEV pool fleet 

In progress O9, O6 

 Ensure procurement processes embed carbon reduction for 
transport purchases & leasing 

In progress E6 

 

A fleet review has been completed with the Energy Savings Trust, and 70 vehicles were 

identified as replaceable with fully electric variants. Funding has been allocated, and the 

Pool Car fleet has already seen the replacement of 13 electric vehicles and additional 

vehicles to be ordered in 2023. 

Page 53

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/improve-your-internet-connectivity/connecting-dorset-a-guide-to-broadband-support-schemes
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/improve-your-internet-connectivity/connecting-dorset-a-guide-to-broadband-support-schemes
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/improve-your-internet-connectivity/gigabit-broadband-voucher-scheme
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/digital-dorset/digital-dorset/digital-champion-training-for-frontline-workers
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/festival-of-the-future-2022


30 
 

A policy is to be developed and a range of electric vehicles (cars, vans, tippers, mechanical 

sweepers, refuse collection vehicles) have been trialled by a number of different services, 

and further implementation is dependent on infrastructure upgrades and depot reviews.  

Alternative fuel refuse collection vehicles have been trialled, with the potential to introduce 

this onto the fleet subject to funding, and dependent on the outcome of waste depot reviews 

and existing depot capacity. A decision is currently pending on further trialling of 

Hydrogenated Vegetable Oil in refuse vehicles. 

Fleet Services and Dorset Travel continue to monitor the development of alternatively 

fuelled, electric small/medium buses. Additional funding and infrastructure will be required, 

including recognition that not all buses parked in depots (some are parked at and operate 

from Day Centres). 

The option to purchase alternatively fuelled (electric) vehicles always considered as part of 

vehicle replacement program. The costs of replacement is being included in future 

applications for capital funding (Vehicle Replacement Program for 2025 to 2030). Vehicle 

workshop technicians are being trained in how to work on EVs. 

Capital has been allocated to support the expansion of EV charging infrastructure at council 

sites, with new capacity of 14 chargers installed at County Hall and further chargers at other 

sites currently being scoped. 

Waste 

 
Objective 1: Become a low waste council by 2040 
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Ensure all reusable furniture is donated. In progress O12 

 Carry out internal waste audits across our operations & create waste 
reduction plan supported by targeted campaigns 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O12 

 Develop waste policy based on audit findings 
Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O12 

 Work with Council tenants and concessions to reduce food waste 
and promote less packaging 

In progress O12 

 Develop waste communications plan for DC staff & buildings and 
provide containers etc for all DC staff & buildings 

In progress O12, E9 

 Continue to work towards our commitment to become single-use 
plastic-free & eliminate the use of all single life products (whereever 
possible) 

In progress O12 

 Increase scope of Single-Use Plastic Team to include non-
recyclable products. 

In progress O12 

 

Surplus furniture from office rationalisation has been re-used in other offices, depots and 

schools. 

No audits have been carried out due to resource constraints, so this has been rolled over 

into the 2023-25 action plan subject to resourcing (O12). 

The council has a robust Single Use Plastics Policy that commits to remove and reduce 

single use plastics from our operations and services. Two recycling officers are participating 

in the green champions group, and employee communication channels are used to promote 

Page 54

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s17956/Appendix%201%20-%20The%20Single%20Use%20Plastic%20Policy.pdf


31 
 

waste reduction and recycling (e.g. via digital signage), alongside various employee 

discounts at local zero waste shops and nappy retailers.  

The team also supported the introduction of food containers to all County Hall kitchens, and 

County Hall catering services have removed all avoidable single use plastics. Refill, mug 

library, food composting, and recycling facilities are being promoted to all staff across 

County Hall. Catering services have transitioned to compostable materials for packaging, but 

they are not currently industrially compostable, so work is ongoing to encourage more staff 

to reuse and provide more packaging-free options. 

We continue to promote our internal commercial waste service to businesses (including our 

tenants and concessions), which includes recycling and food waste collections. 

Objective 2: Support the transition to a Circular Economy  
 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Liaise with Waste Services on planning any major developments Complete F22 

 Provide practical advice on the adoption of a circular economy to the 
general public & businesses 

In progress F23 

 Ensure all decisions have the circular economy at their heart.  In progress 
O12, 

F23, E2, 
E6 

 Carry out scenario modelling for waste collection and treatment 
options in order to establish appropriate waste infrastructure to 
support the circular economy  

In progress F23 

 Implement findings of scenario modelling 
Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F23 

 

The waste team are consulted on pre-applications and planning applications for new 

residential dwellings or commercial developments. 

Circular economy ambitions are contained within the Waste Plan, and our waste team 

accordingly undertakes comprehensive engagement that includes business network events. 

It has also worked with partners to conduct a business survey that included the offer of 

individual business waste auditing. Our Litter Free Dorset programme also hosts the 

Sustainable Business Network and its Sustainable Business Awards. 

The waste team also undertakes a comprehensive programme of campaigns and initiatives 

on waste reduction, reuse, recycling and the circular economy.  In 2022/23, this included 12 

community talks/presentations on 'right stuff, right bin' and 'where recycling/rubbish goes'; 2 

swish events (resulting in 685 items donated (302kg) and 765 items taken home (337kg)); 4 

give and take days (with a total 207 households taking away 2.6 tonnes of items); 3 real 

nappy demonstrations to 65 health visitors showing how to use reusable nappies and 

providing information on our incentive scheme; 22 roadshows; presentation at business 

network events. 

A reuse strategy has been researched and developed and tasks are now being 

implemented. Our Zero Waste Map signposts to repair cafes and exchange/reuse facilities. 

Multiple funding streams are made available for further such community projects, and the 

council has previously provided support for Wimborne Repair Café. 

We are still in the process of building our 'as-is' model of waste collection rounds. This needs 

to be completed ahead of us being able to use the model for scenario modelling.  We are 

Page 55

•%09https:/www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/35024/285757/Waste+Plan+2019+-+Part+1.pdf/2b346405-89e2-cdac-af01-9de9237852d2
https://www.litterfreedorset.co.uk/projects-campaigns/sustainable-business-award/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/bins-recycling-and-litter/reducing-and-reusing/current-campaigns-and-offers
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/-/dorset-zero-waste-map
•%09https:/www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-community/support-for-voluntary-and-community-organisations/funding
•%09https:/news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/02/17/supporting-local-communities/


32 
 

currently in the second stage of the 'as is model & route optimisation' programme which is to 

refine the output rounds ready for optimisation.  Once this stage is complete, we will have 

system generated model rounds that accurately reflect the actual rounds as far as possible.  

We will then be able to run whole area, system generated, round optimisation exercises 

removing all historical boundaries/borders.  We will also be able to model different scenarios 

involving different collection vehicles, depots, materials, treatment facilities, collection 

frequencies, etc. 

Objective 3: Reduce the amount of waste produced in Dorset  

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Develop targeted campaigns to reduce the amount of waste 
produced in Dorset and increase recycling and reuse 

In progress F24 

 Develop targeted campaign to reduce, re-use and recycle 
commercial and industrial waste 

In progress F24 

 Improve recycling facilities and waste infrastructure in line with 
outcomes of scenario modelling and reviewed waste policy 

In progress F23 

 

Our recycling and composting rate is 58.9%, putting us in the top three unitary councils in 

England. Waste sent to landfill has been cut to just 2%, and most of our residual waste is 

now sent to the New Earth Mechanical Biological Treatment plant in Poole where organic 

and recyclable materials are extracted and leftover material is turned into fuel. We’ve been 

listed in the top 3 councils in a national Recycling Carbon Index, which measures carbon 

emissions avoided through local authority recycling schemes. 

 

The waste team continue to develop and implement a vast array of different campaigns, 

projects and engagements to reduce waste and increase recycling.  These include the home 

compost bin subsidy; the reusable nappy incentive; discounts for reusable period products 

and incontinence pads; food waste reduction campaign (including media animations and 

school competitions); the communal improvement programme; container stickering; the 

online zero waste map; the Yes/No contamination campaign; the side waste reduction 

project; the 'Litterlotto' incentive scheme; and reuse activities including swish events and 

give & take days. 

 

For commercial waste we offer a comprehensive waste and recycling collection scheme via 

the commercial waste team.  We worked alongside Litter Free Dorset, Chambers of 

Commerce, local BIDs and town councils to offer a Dorset wide business survey to establish 

what they required to lessen their impact on the environment.  As part of this, the team 

offered the opportunity for a recycling officer to conduct an individual business waste audit. 

Our Event Management Plan template requests (§9) details of environmental considerations, 

stresses the importance of acting to put plans in place to minimise environmental impacts, 

and notes that events will not be approved unless addressed. The Single Use Plastics (SUP) 

policy also notes our commitment to work with event organisers to eliminate SUP across 

events held on Dorset Council land and share guidance for this more widely, and to continue 

to support local communities by sharing best practice, raise awareness, supporting and 

promoting positive initiatives, campaigns and actions for reducing waste. Examples of such 

initiatives are described on the Litter Free Dorset website. 

We are still in the process of building our 'as-is' model of waste collection rounds as noted 

above, which is a prerequisite to scenario modelling. Meanwhile, we are continuing to 

develop our infrastructure plans by progressing with a site in the Blandford area and 

Page 56

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/bins-recycling-and-litter/reducing-and-reusing/current-campaigns-and-offers/love-food-hate-waste
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/bins-recycling-and-litter/reducing-and-reusing/recycling-talks
https://news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2023/03/29/dorset-council-and-litterlotto-partner-up-to-tackle-littering-and-reward-local-residents/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/35024/344703/Dorset+Council+Event+Management+Plan+-+Template+%26+Guidance+v1.docx/d4648393-7bf1-f4f2-9471-6beeadb4053e?t=1673867258319
https://www.litterfreedorset.co.uk/


33 
 

investigating options for the East of the county.  The proposed Blandford Waste 

Management Centre was granted planning permission in April 2022 and negotiations on the 

land are ongoing, however on 20/06/23 Cabinet agreed to progress with CPO of the land as 

negotiations have stalled.  Regarding a waste site in the east, work is continuing, and 

members support the proposed project timeframe to allow sufficient time for the most 

suitable site to be identified and maintain current cross border arrangements with 

neighbouring authorities.  We are also feeding into a wider depot/ infrastructure review led 

by assets and property.  

In terms of reviewing waste policy, we are due to conduct a review of the Dorset Municipal 

Waste Management Strategy but we are waiting to receive the government responses to the 

three national waste consultations that were conducted in 2021/22 as these will have a 

significant impact on how we proceed going forward - they will dictate what and how we 

collect waste and how it will be funded. 

Objective 4: Encourage greater re-use of waste in Dorset 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Explore the development of repair cafes and library of things. In progress F23 

 

A reuse strategy has been researched and developed and tasks are now being 

implemented. This has included the development of an online zero waste map for Dorset 

which includes details of repair cafes, community fridges, milk refill stations and reusable 

nappy retailers. The council has also previously provided support for Wimborne Repair Café. 

 

Objective 5: Increase the proportion of Dorset’s waste that is recycled 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Work with BIDs to investigate possibility of one waste contractor 
collecting all waste in the area, reducing multiple vehicles collecting 
in the same area   

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F23 

 

No action to date due to resource constraints. 

 

Objective 6: Reduce emissions from waste fleet 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Work with fleet manager to reduce emissions from waste collection 
vehicles, through route optimisation. 

In progress O9 

 

The route optimisation 'as-is' model is still being developed.  Once this is completed, it will 

be used to redesign routes to enable route optimisation and improve efficiency. This will not 

be before the end of 2023.  There will then be an implementation programme that is required 

to deliver the proposed changes. 

Objective 7: Reduce Littering & Fly tipping 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Continue to work with the Police, EA & community groups to reduce 
littering & fly tipping 

In progress F31 

We have successfully undertaken over 2,000 enforcement actions against waste crime since 

April 2018, including 364 Fixed Penalty Notices and 22 prosecutions, with a 100% conviction 

rate. Joint working with the Police, EA and other agencies has been continual with 

Page 57

•%09https:/news.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/2022/02/17/supporting-local-communities/


34 
 

engagement through the rural crime team, ANPR team and various specific operations. The 

littering from vehicles process has been set up, and we were one of the first councils to do 

this, with 25 Fixed Penalty Notices issued to date. A litterlotto app has also been launched to 

encourage residents to dispose of waste in a litter bin and be in with the chance to win a 

prize. 

Water 

 
Objective 1: Reduce Water Demand in Dorset 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Ensure water use is minimised and reuse is optimised in new 
developments 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

F19 

 Provide information to residents and businesses on reducing water 
consumption, helping to improve understanding of the issues and 
solutions to better water management, reducing bills and carbon 
emissions 

In progress E9 

 

Within Nutrient Neutrality catchments we are looking to require higher water efficiency 

standards in development secured by condition. Elsewhere, policy will need to be developed 

through the Local Plan, adoption of which is delayed until 2026. 

Information on water saving is available through our website, and further work to consider 

potential campaigns has been rolled over into Phase 2. 

Our new planning sustainability checklist also includes relevant prompts on water 

conservation alongside sustainable drainage. 

Objective 2: Reduce Water Demand at Dorset Council 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Make Dorset Council buildings water efficient, by installing 
technologies such as flow regulators, water efficient toilets & shower 
heads 

In progress O3 

 Reduce / replace demand on mains water within Dorset Council 
buildings by installing technologies such as rainwater harvesting and 
grey water systems 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O3 

 

A full audit has not yet been undertaken, but there is ongoing installation of relevant 

measures as part of ongoing maintenance upgrades. For example, numerous toilet 

refurbishments undertaken across the estate (including schools, community buildings, 

offices and libraries) has seen water efficient duel flush, cistern and tap technologies 

installed.  

 

A limited number of systems have been installed over time. Determination of the future 

expansion of such demand reduction measures has been rolled over to Phase 2. 

 

Objective 3: Reduce Wasted Water 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Liaise with water companies to ensure water leaks are identified and 
eliminated in Dorset  

In progress O3, E7 

 Carry out an in-depth assessment of water leaks across the 
Council’s estate 

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O3 

 

Page 58

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/climate-water-saving-advice
https://consultation.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/spatial-planning/dorset-council-planning-for-climate-change/user_uploads/dorset-council-sustainability-checklist_consultation.pdf


35 
 

Water company liaison has been rolled over to Phase 2. Any sites on our estate where water 

use shows to be anomalous are identified and investigated, and a number of leaks have 

been identified and rectified. 

 

Objective 4: Protect Water Supplies 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Carry out audit of all Dorset Council sites holding materials 
hazardous to water quality to ensure correct storage is in place & 
ensure pollution prevention equipment is properly maintained.  

Rolled over 
to Phase 2 

O15 

 Work with Council Farms and Green spaces to ensure land 
management practices protect water supplies 

In progress 
O16, 
O17 

 Work with Environment Agency to ensure all high risk industrial and 
farming areas in Dorset have been identified and appropriate 
pollution prevention measures are in place 

In progress F31, F26 

 Work with partners to promote land management practices that 
prevent polluting water courses and ensure good water 
management 

In progress 
E7, E9, 

F26 

 

Work to audit hazardous materials has been delayed due to staff changes and rolled over 

into Phase 2. 

Our Environmental health team liaises regularly on all controlled emissions and issues, and 

guidance on testing is available via our website.  

A nitrate protection programme is in place to work with landowners to understand water 

pollution issues and improve management in the Poole catchment area through the Poole 

Harbour Nutrient Management Scheme, including enabling farmer-led approaches for 

nutrient reduction. Partnership work to promote positive land management practices for 

watercourses and the riverine environment is undertaken with Dorset Catchment 

Partnerships. 

Relevant pollution mitigation work is also undertaken through Litter Free Dorset through its 

water quality campaigns, and signage interventions such as at Charmouth and Church Ope 

Cove. 

Objective 5: Increase Resilience to Climate Change – Water 

2021-2023 Action Status 
2023-25 
Action 

 Work with water companies to ensure:- 
- climate resilience is being addressed 
-  sufficient supplies of good quality water will be available for Dorset 
Residents 

In progress F34 

 Raising awareness to Riparian owners to maintain watercourses to 
prevent flooding 

In progress E9, F26 

 Work  with Environment Agency to identify areas at risk from 
flooding & ensure adequate protection is in place 

In progress F18, F24 

 Avoid developments in flood risk areas & areas subject to tidal 
surges and coastal erosion 

In progress F19 

 Work with partners to create tree planting programmes to prevent 
flood risk and water pollution 

In progress F34, O14 

 

Work to address the climate resilience of water supplies with water companies will form part 

of the broader partnership approach to adaptation to be developed in Phase 2, timed to 

benefit from the forthcoming third National Adaptation Programme. 

Page 59

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/environmental-health
https://www.dorsetcatchments.co.uk/projects/
https://www.dorsetcatchments.co.uk/projects/
https://www.litterfreedorset.co.uk/


36 
 

Work to raise awareness with riparian owners on watercourse maintenance is undertaken 

through normal routes on flood resilience outreach, such as at flood warden workshops and 

conferences. 

The identification of flood risk areas has been completed and work is ongoing with the EA to 

ensure that adequate protections are in place. 

The SFRA Level 1 has been prepared and published and will aid in decision-making where 

flood risks exist in order to direct development away from areas at risk of flooding in 

accordance with national policy. 

No programme of tree planting specifically on flood risk and water pollution has been created 

beyond the work of the Catchment Partnerships, but we undertake work with farms on 

nutrient mitigation (as noted above) and the AONB-led Farming in Protected Landscapes 

programme has supported 11 projects that cut flood risk and a further 25 that have cut 

carbon and other forms of pollution. 

The challenge ahead 

 
Our refreshed strategy and action plan set out our priorities for the next phase of the 

programme, including continuing many ongoing actions already initiated, and commencing 

some which were not priorities in the first phase and which have been rolled over. We will 

not reiterate those here but will instead outline some of the major challenges which our 

future delivery will face. 

We have achieved much so far, as outlined above. However, as we proceed our trajectory 

will likely get more difficult. 

Unsurprisingly, a major constraint will continue to be resource constraints, and in particular 

our ability to continue to attract major grant funding from national competitive funding pots. 

We have been very successful to date, but maintaining our trajectory will be contingent on 

our securing income for major programmes like future rounds of the Public Sector 

Decarbonisation Scheme – and we must ensure we are ready to seize these. Beyond grant 

income, there will also undoubtedly be a requirement to re-align existing resources to 

accelerate action, and further consideration to strengthening how we mainstream activity 

within our service planning and budget setting processes. 

Key amongst this will also be considering how we commission and procure our goods. What 

we buy makes up the overwhelming component of our footprint, and it will be considerably 

important therefore to turn increasing attention to how much and what we buy. But this also 

contains clear opportunities to leverage wider change by supporting low carbon, nature 

positive local products and services, and to work with suppliers to encourage wider action to 

achieve net zero. 

The initial phase of our work has prioritised our Operational Programme to tackle the 

council’s own impacts and work towards becoming a net zero council by 2040. Whilst there 

remains significant work to do in that programme, we must also look increasingly beyond the 

council itself and facilitate wider change by working together with our communities, local 

businesses, and public and third sector partners. There are significant steps we have 

already taken here – including establishing our Public Sector Group with Dorset public sector 

partners and commencing outreach with local councils amongst others – and we will need to 

take this further. 

Page 60

Partnership%20work%20to%20promote%20positive%20land%20management%20practices%20for%20watercourses%20and%20the%20riverine%20environment%20is%20undertaken%20with%20Dorset%20Catchment%20Partnerships.
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/w/natural-environment-climate-ecology-strategy-2023-25-refresh
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s33876/Appendix%202%20-%20Action%20Plan%20-%20Final%20Draft.pdf


37 
 

Key amongst the external stakeholders who we must work with more are those within the 

food system. In all discussion of climate change, food still remains relatively underplayed 

compared to energy, but it will need to be an increasing area of focus – especially in rural 

areas like Dorset. Our farmers are essential land stewards who can be at the forefront of the 

transition to a greener, cleaner Dorset, and we will need to think about how we can better 

work with them. Developing our Local Nature Recovery Strategy will be a great opportunity 

to do this, but we must also think more widely to work closer with our farming community and 

how to influence our food system more generally. 

Even more significant for facilitation will be developing a broad approach to how we effect 

behaviour change and influence for our residents and businesses. Whilst we have 

undertaken some work in this regard to date, scaling this up and broadening its scope will 

likely be difficult and we will have to work in partnership and with our grassroots community 

to successfully have influence. From installing low carbon tech in your home, to choosing 

active or public modes of travel, or considering what you buy – personal choices will 

increasingly matter. Of course, action is not all up to individuals, and creating the conditions 

that support people to choose low carbon options will be important – and it will take care and 

consideration to ensure that these are effective. 

A major challenge will also be emerging tech, infrastructure or policy constraints. Most 

significant here are grid constraints which will set a limit on what is achievable for renewable 

generation and for the electrification of heat and transport. Government has set out 

significant plans over the last year for the grid towards its goal of decarbonising. We are 

already engaged, providing evidence and lobbying key stakeholders like network operators 

and government on this. Also highly important are policy and market developments around 

heat pumps and especially hydrogen – particularly government’s forthcoming determination 

of heat network zones and 2025 and its decisions on the role of hydrogen in 2026. Whilst we 

are certainly not sitting on our hands, a full understanding of the opportunities and costs of 

pursuing particular options is partly contingent on these national factors. 

Another increasing area of focus will need to be defining an approach to offsetting residual 

emissions. We are already taking some work to help inform a potential approach, and our 

pragmatic 2040 and 2050 targets give us more room – but we must nevertheless begin to 

consider what an approach to offsetting might look like. This is difficult especially as 

offsetting ultimately requires land (whether domestic or global), and so any local delivery 

(which could have co-benefits but also risks) requires thinking strategically about land use. 

Finally, we must also consider that in spite of efforts so far, warming is happening now and 

will continue – and it is looking increasingly likely that we will cross 1.5C soon. That will bring 

resilience threats that we must take seriously – and as wildfires show, these can threaten 

efforts at emissions reduction and nature recovery too, let alone the broader social costs. 

There are also the more difficult to observe but clear indirect impacts already being seen 

thorough things like climate-drivers of inflation. Implications such as this should prompt us to 

increasingly grasp that climate change and biodiversity loss are not only environmental 

problems, but socio-economic ones. 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Place and Resources Scrutiny Committee 

Work Programme 
 

Meeting Date: 4 July 2023 

 

Report Title 
 

Aims and Objectives Lead Officers / Members Other Information 

Natural Environment, Climate 
and Ecology: Phase 1 (2021-
23) Progress Report – 
Summer 2023 
 
 
 

To review the bi-annual progress 
report on the Dorset Council Natural 
Environment, Climate and Ecology 
Strategy and action plan and respond 
to requests for information from the 
committee 
 

Carl Warom – Climate & 
Ecology Policy Officer 
 
Cllr Ray Bryan – Portfolio 
Holder for Highways, Travel 
& Environment 
 

 

Performance Scrutiny 
 
 
 

To review the most recent 
performance information and use this 
to agree items to add to the 
committee work programme for 
further analysis 
 

David Bonner – Service 
Manager – Business 
Intelligence & Performance 
 
Cllr Jill Haynes - Portfolio 
Holder for Corporate 
Development & 
Transformation 
 

 

 

 

Meeting Date: 12 September 2023 

 

Report Title 
 

Aims and Objectives Lead Officers / Members Other Information 

Property Strategy & Asset 
Management Plan Annual 
Monitoring Report 
 
 
 
 

Review and comment upon progress 
in achieving the actions identified in 
the Property & Asset Management 
Strategy Action Plan and areas 
needing to be given priority 

Peter Hopkins - Corporate 
Director – Assets & 
Property 
 
Cllr Andrew Parry – 
Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Property 

 

P
age 63

A
genda Item

 9



 
 
 
 

   

 

 

Meeting Date: 9 November 2023 

 

Report Title 
 

Aims and Objectives Lead Officers / Members Other Information 

Chairman’s update item: 
Summer 2023 Operations in 
Dorset 
 
 
 

To review the position with Easter and 
Summer 2023 operations 

Graham Duggan – Head of 
Community & Public 
Protection 
 
Cllr Ray Bryan – Portfolio 
Holder for Highways, Travel 
& Environment 
 

Follow up to a review of Summer 2022 
Operations by the committee at the 
meeting on 25 January 2023 

Natural Environment, Climate 
and Ecology Strategy – 
progress report 

To review the bi-annual progress 
report on the Dorset Council Natural 
Environment, Climate and Ecology 
Strategy 
 

Carl Warom – Climate & 
Ecology Policy Officer 
 
Cllr Ray Bryan – Portfolio 
Holder for Highways, Travel 
& Environment 
 

 

Performance Scrutiny 
 
 
 
 

To review the most recent 
performance information and use this 
to agree items to add to the 
committee forward plan for further 
analysis 
 

David Bonner – Service 
Manager – Business 
Intelligence & Performance 
 
Cllr Jill Haynes - Portfolio 
Holder for Corporate 
Development & 
Transformation 
 

 

 

  

P
age 64



 

Meeting Date: 17 January 2023 – Budget scrutiny (Single item meeting) 

 

Report Title 
 

Aims and Objectives Lead Officers / Members Other Information 

Budget Scrutiny 
 
 
 
 

Consideration of the budget proposals 
before proceeding to produce the final 
budget paper for recommendation to 
Cabinet on 30 January 2024 

Sean Cremer – Corporate 
Director – Finance & 
Commercial 
 
Cllr Gary Suttle – Portfolio 
Holder for Finance, 
Commercial & Capital 
Strategy 
 

 

 

 

Meeting Date: 26 February 2024 

 

Report Title 
 

Aims and Objectives Lead Officers / Members Other Information 

Redlands Leisure and 
Community Park Update 
 
 
 
 

To review the position with the 
Redlands Community Sports Hub 
following the Cabinet decision of 6 
September 2022 

Paul Rutter – Service 
Manager for Leisure 
Services 
 
Cllr Laura Beddow – 
Portfolio Holder for Culture 
& Communities 
 

Recommendation from Cabinet 6 
September 2022 for the Place & 
Resources Scrutiny Committee to 
undertake a post decision review 

Dorset Council 20mph Speed 
Limit Policy 
 

To review the implementation of the 
policy one year after adoption 

Tony Burden – Road Safety 
Manager / Jack Wiltshire – 
Head of Highways 
 
Cllr Ray Bryan – Portfolio 
Holder for Highways, Travel 
& Environment 
 

 

P
age 65



Corporate Complaints Team 
– Annual Report 
 
 
 
 

An overview of the volume and 
impacts of Dorset Council’s 
complaints through the Corporate 
Complaints Team 2022/23 

Antony Bygrave – Senior 
Assurance Officer – 
Complaints 
 
Cllr Jill Haynes - Portfolio 
Holder for Corporate 
Development & 
Transformation 
 

 

 
 
 
 

   

 

 

Meeting Date: 28 March 2024 

 

Report Title 
 

Aims and Objectives Lead Officers / Members Other Information 

Performance Scrutiny 
 
 
 
 

To review the most recent 
performance information and use this 
to agree items to add to the 
committee forward plan for further 
analysis 
 

David Bonner – Service 
Manager – BI & 
Performance 
 
Cllr Jill Haynes - Portfolio 
Holder for Corporate 
Development & 
Transformation 
 

 

 
 
 

   

 

Continued over… 

  

P
age 66



 

Annual items: 

 Corporate Complaints Team – Annual Report - January 

 Property Strategy & Asset Management Plan Monitoring Report – Corporate Director Assets & Property – September 
 

Bi-annual items: 

 Climate & Ecological Emergency Strategy – progress report – Carl Warom – July and November 
 

Alternate meeting items: 

 Performance Scrutiny – David Bonner –informal session held before each committee occurrence - July, November, March 
 

 

Informal Work of the Committee: 

 

Date 
 

Topic Format Members Lead Officers / Members Other Information 

Quarterly 
 

Review of the 
committee’s performance 
and risk dashboards 
 

Informal meeting All committee 
members 

David Bonner – Service 
Manager Business 
Intelligence & Performance 

Review of the dashboards 
to identify potential future 
areas for review by the 
committee 
 

Tbc Grid Capacity Task and Finish 
Group 

tbc Steven Ford – Corporate 
Director TID and 
Environment 
 
Antony Littlechild – 
Sustainability Team 
Manager 
 

Task & finish group to be 
established by the 
Chairman and Vice-
chairman.  Group will do 
background gathering work 
& will then determine 
timescale for review 
 

Tbc Water Pollution 
 

Task and Finish 
Group 
 

tbc tbc  

 

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
The Cabinet Forward Plan - July 2023 to October 2023 

For the period 1 JULY 2023 to 31 OCTOBER 2023  
(Publication date – 27 JUNE 2023) 

Explanatory Note: 
This Forward Plan contains future items to be considered by the Cabinet and Council.  It is published 28 days before the next meeting of the Committee.  
The plan includes items for the meeting including key decisions.  Each item shows if it is ‘open’ to the public or to be considered in a private part of the 
meeting. 
 
Definition of Key Decisions 
Key decisions are defined in Dorset Council's Constitution as decisions of the Cabinet which are likely to - 

(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant 
local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (Thresholds - £500k); or 

(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of 
the relevant local authority.” 

In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes the Council will have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State in 
accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 Act.  Officers will consult with lead members to determine significance and sensitivity. 
 

Cabinet Portfolio Holders 2023/24 
Spencer Flower   Leader / Governance, Performance and Communications 
Gary Suttle    Deputy Leader and Finance, Commercial and Capital Strategy 
Ray Bryan    Highways, Travel and Environment  
Jill Haynes   Corporate Development and Transformation  
Laura Beddow  Culture and Communities 
Simon Gibson  Economic Growth and Levelling Up 
Andrew Parry   Assets and Property 
Byron Quayle   People – Children, Education, Skills, and Early Help 
Jane Somper   People - Adult Social Care, Health, and Housing  
David Walsh    Planning 
 

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 10



 

July 
 
 

 

Quarter 1 2023/24 Financial 
Monitoring Report 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
To consider the Quarter 1 Financial 
Monitoring Report 2023/24. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
25 Jul 2023 
 

 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

Sean Cremer, Corporate 
Director for Finance and 
Commercial  
sean.cremer@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

Library Strategy 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
The proposed library strategy is in the 
process of going through the second 
phase of consultation.  

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
25 Jul 2023 
 

Joint Overview Committee  
7 Jun 2023  
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Culture and 
Communities 

Kate Turner, Library 
Strategy Manager  
kate.turner@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

Adult Social Care - Reablement 
Hubs 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
To provide an update on the 
reablement hubs and seek assurance 
on future plans. 
 
 
 
 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
25 Jul 2023 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Adult Social 
Care, Health and 
Housing 

Jonathan Price, Interim 
Corporate Director for 
Commissioning  
jonathan.price@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - 
Adults 

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

P
age 70



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

A Devolution Deal for Dorset 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
To consider proposals for a 
Devolution Deal for Dorset in 
response to the Levelling Up White 
Paper in which Government has 
committed to offer a devolution deal 
to any part of England which wishes 
to have one. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
25 Jul 2023 
 

 
 
 

Leader of the Council  
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren), Jonathan 
Mair 

Dorset Council Plan Priorities 
Update:  Housing for Local People 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
To receive a report of the Portfolio 
Holder for Housing and Community 
Safety.  

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
25 Jul 2023 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Adult Social 
Care, Health and 
Housing 

Andrew Billany, Corporate 
Director for Housing  
andrew.billany@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - 
Adults 

Dorset Council's Digital Strategy 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
To consider a report on Dorset 
Council’s Digital Strategy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
25 Jul 2023 
 

Place and Resources 
Overview Committee  
18 Apr 2023 and 28 June 
2023 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Development and 
Transformation 

Timothy Robertson, ICT 
Project Manager  
timothy.robertson@dorsetc
ouncil.gov.uk, Dugald 
Lockhart, Service Manager 
Digital Place  
dugald.lockhart@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

P
age 71



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Outcome of Ofsted Focused Visit 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
To report the outcome of the Ofsted 
Focused Visit. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
25 Jul 2023 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Children, 
Education, Skills and 
Early Help 

Claire Shiels, Corporate 
Director - Commissioning, 
Quality & Partnerships  
claire.shiels@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - 
Children (Theresa Leavy) 

Sale of land at Pond Walk, 
Stalbridge 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Part exempt 

1. That Cabinet approves the 
freehold sale, following a 
marketing exercise, of 1.75 
acres of residential land, 
currently with outline planning 
permission at Pond Walk, 
subject to any agreed 
deductions for adverse 
condition matters and 
planning costs, conditional 
upon and obtaining reserved 
matters or a satisfactory 
planning consent for the site. 
 
2. That Cabinet Delegate 
authority to the Corporate 
Director of Assets & 
Regeneration to agree any 
deductions and to complete 
the legal sale and transfer 
when all conditions are 
satisfied in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for 
Assets and the S151 Officer. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
25 Jul 2023 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Assets and Property 

Jon Morgan, Development 
Manager  
jon.morgan@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) P

age 72



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Large Scale Renewable Energy 
Scheme 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Fully exempt 
 
To seek a decision from Cabinet to 
approve financial support for a large 
scale renewable energy project in 
Dorset. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
25 Jul 2023 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Highways, Travel and 
Environment 

Antony Littlechild, 
Sustainability Team 
Manager  
antony.littlechild@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

Weymouth Regeneration - 
Levelling Up Funding and 
Approach 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Part exempt 
 
To approve the proposed approach to 
the delivery of the Levelling Up Fund 
project and finances and to seek 
endorsement of the priorities for 
regeneration 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
25 Jul 2023 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Growth and 
Levelling Up 

Peter Hopkins, Corporate 
Director - Assets and 
Property  
peter.hopkins@dorsetcounc
il.gov.uk, Julian Wain, 
Strategic Place Advisor  
Julian.wain@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

New Approach to Engaging our 
Contingency Workforce 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Fully exempt 
 
To present out preferred option for 
engaging agency workers and 
consultants in the future and seek 
agreement to enter into a Joint 
Venture with a partner organisation to 
create our own agency/broker. 
 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
25 Jul 2023 
 

Place and Resources 
Overview Committee  
Place and Resources 
Overview Committee  
6 Jun 2023  
28 Jun 2023  
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Development and 
Transformation 

Chris Matthews, Interim 
Head of HR  
christopher.matthews@dors
etcouncil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

P
age 73



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

September 
 
 

 

Additional Procurement Forward 
Plan 2023-24 and incorporating the 
refresh of the annual Modern 
Slavery Transparency Statement 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
Additional Procurement Forward 
Plan: Cabinet is required to approve 
all key decisions with financial 
consequences of £500k or more. This 
report will also incorporate the annual 
refresh of the Modern Slavery 
Transparency Statement for Cabinet's 
agreements. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
5 Sep 2023 
 

 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

Dawn Adams, Service 
Manager for Commercial 
and Procurement  
dawn.adams@dorsetcounci
l.gov.uk 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

Discretionary Housing Payment 
Policy 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
Our Discretionary Housing Payment 
policy reflects the Department for 
Works and Pensions formal guidance 
providing the administration 
framework associated with the 
application, criteria, assessment and 
awarding principles established to 
provide when applicable, some 
additional financial support to eligible 
residents.  

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
5 Sep 2023 
 

 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

Katie Hale, Head of 
Revenues and Benefits  
katie.hale@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

P
age 74



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Dorset Council Plan Priorities 
Update: Value for Money (Unitary 
Council Benefits) 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
To receive a report of the Portfolio 
Holder for Finance, Commercial and 
Capital Strategy.  

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
5 Sep 2023 
 

 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

October 
 
 

 

Families First for Children 
Pathfinder 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
To consider a report regarding the 
Families First for Children Pathfinder. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
3 Oct 2023 
 

People and Health 
Overview Committee  
14 Sep 2023  
 

Portfolio Holder for 
People - Children, 
Education, Skills and 
Early Help 

Paul Dempsey, Corporate 
Director - Care & Protection 
Tel: 01305 224513 
paul.dempsey@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk 
Executive Director, People - 
Children (Theresa Leavy) 

November 
 
 

 

Dog Related Public Spaces 
Protection Order- Renewal 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
To agree and adopt the draft order.  
 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
7 Nov 2023 
 

Place and Resources 
Overview Committee  
5 Oct 2023  
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Culture and 
Communities 

Janet Moore, Service 
Manager Environmental 
Protection  
Janet.Moore@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk 
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

P
age 75



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Quarter 2 Financial Monitoring 
2023/24 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
To consider the Quarter 2 Financial 
Monitoring Report 2023/24. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
7 Nov 2023 
 

 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

Sean Cremer, Corporate 
Director for Finance and 
Commercial  
sean.cremer@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

Our Future Council - putting our 
customers first 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
Setting out the proposed future 
programme. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
7 Nov 2023 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Culture and 
Communities 

Lisa Cotton, Corporate 
Director for Customer and 
Cultural Services  
lisa.cotton@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk, Nina Coakley, 
Programme Manager  
n.coakley@dorsetcc.gov.uk 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn), Matt Prosser 

December 
 
 

 

January 2024 
 

 

Quarter 3 Financial Monitoring 
Report 2023/24 
 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 
To consider the Quarter 3 Financial 
Monitoring Report 2023/24. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 
30 Jan 2024 
 

 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

Sean Cremer, Corporate 
Director for Finance and 
Commercial  
sean.cremer@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 

P
age 76



 
Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 

Decision is 
Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Dunn) 

Budget strategy and medium-term 
financial plan (MTFP) 
 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 
To consider a report of the Portfolio 
Holder for Finance, Commercial and 
Capital Assets.  

Decision Maker 
Dorset Council 
 
 

Decision Date 
13 Feb 2024 
 

Cabinet  
30 Jan 2024 
 
Place and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee 
17 Jan 2024  
 
People and Health Scrutiny 
Committee  
12 Jan 2024 
 
 

Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

Sean Cremer, Corporate 
Director for Finance and 
Commercial  
sean.cremer@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

 P
age 77



 

10 

Private/Exempt Items for Decision 
Each item in the plan above marked as ‘private’ will refer to one of the following paragraphs.  

 
1. Information relating to any individual.   
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).   
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 

between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.   
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.   
6. Information which reveals that the shadow council proposes:- 

 (a)  to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment.   

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.   
 
 

P
age 78



 

 
 
 
 

Date of committee: 20 June 2023 
Date published: 20 June 2023 
Date of implementation: 27 June 2023 

 
DECISIONS OF THE CABINET 

20 JUNE 2023 
 

 
The following decisions were made by the Cabinet on 20 June 2023 and will come 
into force and may be implemented on 27 June 2023 unless the decision is called 
in for scrutiny. 
 

In accordance with the council’s constitution, any six members of the same 
relevant Scrutiny Committee may request the Monitoring Officer to ‘call-in’ a 
decision for scrutiny.  The Monitoring Officer will be provided with written notice 
that will identify the decision to be called-in and the ground for the call-in when the 
request is made. If satisfied that there are reasonable grounds for the proposed 
call-in, the Monitoring Officer will notify the decision-maker of the call-in within 5 
clear working days. The deadline for this request is 26 June 203 
 
The full call-in procedure is set out in the Constitution or for further information and 
advice please telephone Kate Critchel on 01305 252234 
 
 

 

 

Page 79



 
6   COUNCIL PLAN ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 

 
That the annual progress against the refreshed Council Plan for the period October 2022 
to March 2023 be noted.  
 

7   DRAFT OUTTURN REPORT 2022/23 
 
(a) That the draft revenue and capital outturn and the financial performance for the 

year ended 31 March 2023, be noted. 
 
(b) That the use of un-ringfenced reserves to support the overspend position in addition 

to increasing the general fund balance in line with the financial strategy document, 
be approved. 

 
(c) That an increase of 2.0m to the working capital loan facility available to Dorset 

Centre of Excellence Limited, be approved and  
 
(d) That authority be delegated to the Section 151 Officer to agree the terms of the 

loan, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder Finance. 
 

8   TRANSFORMATION ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 
 
(a) That the Transformation Plan annual report be approved. 

 
(b) That the planned shift in year three of the Transformation Plan to integrate 

ambitious customer transformation/Our Future Council plans from 2024 to 2030 be 
noted. 

 
9   ASPIRE ADOPTION ANNUAL REPORT FOR DORSET COUNCIL 

 
That the Aspire Annual Report and Statement of Purpose be approved.  
 

10   YOUTH JUSTICE SERVICE INSPECTION 
 
(a) That the findings of the inspection report, including the “recommendations”, 

“strengths”, and “areas for improvement” identified by the inspectors be noted. 
 

(b) It was further noted that an action plan was in place, with suitable monitoring, to 
address the inspection report’s recommendations.  

 
16   USE OF COMPULSORY PURCHASE POWERS FOR LAND ADJACENT TO 

SUNRISE BUSINESS PARK, BLANDFORD 
 
That the 7 recommendations set out in the exempt report to Cabinet of 20 June 2023 be 
approved.  
 

17   DAY OPPORTUNITIES: NEXT STEPS (URGENT ITEM) 
 
(a) That the report and recommendations of People & Health Overview 
 Committee be noted. 

Page 80



 
(b) That following a wider piece of work of the Directorate, a further paper be presented
 to Cabinet at a later date. 
 
 
 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Natural Environment, Climate and Ecology: Phase 1 (2021-23) Progress Report - Summer 2023
	Appendix A - Natural Environment, Climate and Ecology: Phase 1 (2021-23) Progress Report - Summer 2023

	9 Place and Resources Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	10 Cabinet Forward Plan and Decisions
	Decisions , 20/06/2023 Cabinet


